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Abstract

This thesis aims at understanding the correlation between the 25th of April of 1974

revolution with the decolonization of the Portuguese Africa. Basing of the literature of

this theme, primarily I will discuss the Estado Novo Regime that which affected both

Portugal as well as the former Portuguese African colonies. After this, I also found

important to have a better understanding of Portugal in the international context mainly

due to the involvement and consequences it had from entering NATO and the UN.

Lastly, I will analyze more in depth the specific cases of Angola, Mozambique, and

Guinea-Bissau. By analyzing these specific cases I will focus on the period of their fight

for independence but also the period after the independence that led to severe instability

in these countries and civil wars.
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Introduction

The Portuguese colonization in Africa goes back to the time of the “descobrimentos”

that took place in the XV century. Amid the colonization the Portuguese justified their

occupation in this territory as “civilized mission” where they considered the population

of these territories to be non-civilized. The Portuguese mission was to spread their

values, language to these territories but mainly their Christianism values, which was of

great importance for them. I chose to write my thesis on the subject of the carnation

revolution and the Portuguese decolonization because it is a theme that I am already

familiar with it but I wanted to deepen more my knowledge about the subject and

understand how these two impacted each other. When I think my education in Portugal

and the generalized view of the former Portuguese colonies I would always learn and

read about the accomplishments of the Portuguese that sailed the world, that

“conquered” a lot of territories, spread the Portuguese language and other great thing

they did. However, the purpose that made write this thesis is that the education we are

taught and the view of a common Portuguese is that the Portuguese only did great

things. I felt like the matter of the decolonization and even before, the brutalities that the

Portuguese committed in their former colonies is not really mentioned or acknowledged

enough in Portugal. Therefore, I chose this theme because I wanted to know more about

the subject of how the Portuguese really treated and acted towards its former colonies.

Firstly I will talk about the Estado Novo regime in Portugal that has a direct correlation

for the colonial wars and the 25th of April of 1974 that finally ended the dictatorship in

Portugal and led to the decolonization. Secondly, I will approach Portugal in the

International system during the years of the Estado Novo regime. I found important to

mention Portugal during this time in the international context during the Estado Novo

regime particularly because it catches also the Cold war period. This period is very

interesting to look at because there will be various actors involved in the “Portuguese

Africa” during the period of the colonial wars but also after the decolonization. Thirdly

I will discuss more in depth the cases of Angola, Mozambique and Guinea Bissau on

their fight for independence but also during the civil wars.
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Hence my research question that I chose to approach is how and what influence had the

fall of the dictatorship in Portugal the decolonization in the “Portuguese Africa”. To

understand more about this influence and correlation I used mainly literary sources such

as articles, dissertations and books to obtain a better understanding of my question and

overall research.
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Chapter 1

Estado Novo Regime

1.1 Estado Novo

The period after the I World War in Portugal was marked by enormous political

instability with serious problems of security and authority, with thousands of arrests and

forced deportations to the African colonies, in addition to the massive flight of financial

capital to the outside1. The crisis of European democracies, combined with the people's

disillusionment with the politicians and their clientelism, corruption and incompetence,

influenced a growing sympathy by the authoritarian solutions advocated by the military,

which would enable stability 2. Generalized disappointment culminated in a revolution

led by the military on May 28th of 1926, which suspended the Portuguese Constitution,

dissolved the parliament, and established a military dictatorship supported by a

provisional constitutional structure3. The regime immediately attempted to highlight

personalities deemed capable of integrating the new government, despite retaining the

highest positions for the rebel military. António de Oliveira Salazar (1889-1970), a

young university professor from Coimbra, was appointed to the Government and took

over the Ministry of Finance4. The goal was to put the public finances in order, which he

accomplished with success. He gradually rose in the power hierarchy and worked for a

regenerative transformation as a way of national salvation capable of suppressing the

country's anarchy and decadence while also representing a redeeming hope in the face

of this “degeneration” 5. After being enthroned as leader of the single party, the União

Nacional, in 1930, Salazar continued his path of power consolidation. In 1933, a new

political constitution was approved, ending the military dictatorship, and establishing

another dictatorial political regime known as Estado Novo, which would last until the

April 25th of 1974. Salazar was led to the position of President of the Council of

1 Estado Novo Portugués Y Estado Novo Brasileño: Afinidades Y Divergencias E N L A S Relaciones
Com, E. P. A. ). (sem data). ESTADO NOVO PORTUGUÊS E ESTADO NOVO BRASILEIRO:
AFINIDADES E DIVERGÊNCIAS NAS RELAÇÕES COM O PATRIMÔNIO ARQUITETÔNICO
(DÉCADAS DE 1930 E 19440). Ufba.br. Obtido 6 de março de 2023, de
https://repositorio.ufba.br/bitstream/ri/20221/1/Acta__Estado-Novo_VersaoFinal.pdf
2 Ibid
3 Ibid
4 Ibid
5 Ibid
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Ministers, beginning to hold effective power, and initiating the ideological program that

would define the Estado Novo until its demise6. The Portuguese Estado Novo was

distinguished by its traditionalist, Catholic, nationalist and imperialist tendencies, not

just during Salazar but this his successor (Marcello) continued this legacy.

1.1.1 The censorship

To comprehend the true political-institutional nature of the Estado Novo, we should not

confine with studying the theory and doctrine of the constitutional enunciation that

conformed its action, the regime's ideological discourse about itself. If the Estado Novo

was ideologically limited by law and morality, constitutionally subordinated to citizens'

rights, freedoms, fundamental guarantees, and intended to be controlled by a diversity

of organs of sovereignty, not only did practice correspond to theory, but Salazarism

became a police state and a constitutional dictatorship in the regime's administrative and

governing practice 7. Over time, the constitutional and regime's legality gave way to

administrative arbitrariness and the right to use force, which suppressed fundamental

freedoms, particularly the rights of expression, assembly, and association. The

pragmatism that characterized Salazar's Portuguese foreign policy encouraged a control

and obstruction of Portuguese society's access to foreign-sourced information8. The

censorship media was relentless and incisive, leading to very effective controls, given

the Estado Novo's philosophies, prevent Portuguese citizens from accessing information

that would undoubtedly alter public opinion. Therefore, the liberal state was the primary

target of all of his criticisms, and the foundation of the entire new structural

organization of the society was in the sense of overcoming it. Since liberalism is a

parliamentary, individualistic system that purports to be democratic, it will contribute to

the breakdown of national unity by superimposing private interests over those that are

common and national, leading to anarchy and the degradation of society, which would

6 Ibid
7 Pinto, D. M. G. (n.d.). ENSAIO SOBRE A EVOLUÇÃO POLÍTICA DO ESTADO NOVO. Core.ac.uk.
Retrieved March 6, 2023, from p.32
8 Campina, & Tenreiro Tomás . (n.d.). PORTUGAL, O ESTADO NOVO, ANTÓNIO DE OLIVEIRA
SALAZAR E A ONU: POSICIONAMENTO(S) E (I)LEGALIDADES NO PÓS II GUERRA
MUNDIAL (1945-1970). p.84
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then be reduced to nothing more than a collection of men and interests9. Mário Soares,

an opponent of the regime, denounced that the two fundamental principles of Salazar's

policy were always the police and censorship, which he personally directed10. Terror

reigned, thanks to the political police, and he subdued his most obstinate opponents.

Where he used censorship to keep information at his disposal and silence the entire

nation11. In the face of the growing predominance of the executive, the progressive

erasure of the National Assembly as a body whose main functions were legislative and

supervisory was carried out, first, by the annulment of its true representativeness of the

voters, either by defining restrictive criteria for citizens' electoral capacity, or by the

governmentalization of suffrage12. According to the decree, only Portuguese male

citizens of majority or emancipation, registered in the electoral census that followed

extremely restrictive government-controlled rules, knowing how to read and write, and

domiciled in the municipality where they had been for more than six months, had the

right to vote13.

Also, the freedom of thought, which was already restricted in the constitutional text,

was a primary target of a government that was always eager to control and manipulate

public opinion14. To that end, three measures were devised to limit the “perversions”

and excesses of free expression while also educating minds in good principles, namely

preventive, repressive, and formative measures15. Prior censorship, which would last

until the end of the regime, was the system's cornerstone, based on preventive

repression, prohibiting writing, speaking, and showing16. A posteriori repression, though

less common, served to correct the censors' inattention or incapacities, as well as to

punish the malice and obstinacy of non-submissive and dangerous prevaricators17. The

Censorship Commission, established in the name of defending public opinion and

"imposing silence on some, assuring tranquility and security for all," as stated by

9 Grilo. (2011). História e Ideologia no Estado Novo – A Revisão Integralista do Passado Nacional p.196
10 Pinto, D. M. G. (n.d.). ENSAIO SOBRE A EVOLUÇÃO POLÍTICA DO ESTADO NOVO. Core.ac.uk.
p.33
11 Ibid
12 Pinto, D. M. G. (n.d.). ENSAIO SOBRE A EVOLUÇÃO POLÍTICA DO ESTADO NOVO. Core.ac.uk.
p.34
13 Ibid
14 Pinto, D. M. G. (n.d.). ENSAIO SOBRE A EVOLUÇÃO POLÍTICA DO ESTADO NOVO.
Core.ac.uk.p.38
15 Ibid
16 Ibid
17 Ibid
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Oliveira Salazar himself, had the goal of preventing the press from being used against

the national reconstruction program, republican institutions, and national well-being. As

a result, its function was defensive18. In addition to prior censorship, the administrative

control of periodicals themselves was used to limit freedom of expression, either

through the requirement of prior authorization for the launch of new publications or

through administrative repression and seizure19. From 1936 on, no publication could be

found without the intellectual and moral suitability of those responsible being

recognized, a recognition of the competence of the censorship20. Furthermore, there was

judicial repression of crimes against free expression, as well as the possibility of the

Censorship services imposing fines and suspension measures, in addition to the seizure

of previously published materials, such as books21. Salazar and later his successor,

Marcello Caetano, controlled the media, the information they published to control the

masses and let them think that the only viable option to govern Portugal was obviously

his own government. To fight any opposition controlling the media was crucial to

Salazar for the people to identify with his regime being the only one who could offer a

sense of national unity with patriotic values. However, it was tricky for Salazar to try to

conciliate asking favors to the media to speak highly about his regime and at the same

time repressing this same media. The censorship was already quite heavy but increased

even more with the beginning of the World War ll with the pretext that there was

military information’s that should be hidden.

18 Ibid
19 Pinto, D. M. G. (n.d.). ENSAIO SOBRE A EVOLUÇÃO POLÍTICA DO ESTADO NOVO. Core.ac.uk.
p.39
20 Ibid
21 IbId
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1.1.2 The PVDE/PIDE

The process of the political police under the Salazar regime, which had as its central

moment the creation by decree of 29 August 1933 Polícia de Vigilância e Defesa do

Estado (PVDE), renamed in 1945 as the Polícia Internacional de Defesa do Estado

(PIDE), can be seen as a gradual centralization of the functions of prevention and

repression of political and social crimes in a single body, directly dependent on the

Minister of the Interior and resulting fundamentally from the fusion and reorganization

of two institutions forged during the Military Dictatorship: the Police for Political and

Social Defense and the Portuguese International Police22.

After the World War ll with the defeat of the nazi Germany and the Italian fascism,

Salazar decided to make some changes in the institutions, although this was just in a

matter of a nomenclature. The former PVDE became PIDE, which had no real changes

in its modus operandi but simply the nomenclature changed. The PIDE inherited from

PVDE preparatory instruction for cases concerning social and political crimes and the

ability to determine the arrests and regime of detention. With its own staff of officials

and agents, the PIDE was competent in administrative matters relating to emigration,

crossing land, sea borders, the regime of permanence and transit of foreigners in

Portugal. The creation of PIDE was as stated before, only in nomenclature matter, so in

this way Salazar could adapt to the new world order, after the World War ll. The former

PVDE continued in PIDE, and these elements became legislated and inserted in the

Portuguese Law. In the case of the custody prison, it was unlimited and without a

“deadline” until 1945, becoming almost a sentence with no ending in multiple cases.

The PIDE was secret police with administrative powers and penal without barely any

legal regulation. From 1945 the PIDE went from an autonomous organ of judiciary

police with function theoretically equivalent to the judiciary police. Therefore, what

PIDE use to do before in an aleatory and non-legislative way was now regulated in the

Portuguese law.

The PVDE/PIDE, enjoying great autonomy, was in charge of preventing crimes of a

political and social nature, surveillance of possible actions against state security,

instruction of cases to be presented for trial by special military courts and

22 Ibid
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superintendence of the fulfillment of sentences in special prisons in its custody,

controlling, therefore, in an integral way, all stages of the process of political justice23.

By defining what was or was not tolerable in freedom in an entirely discretionary

manner, the "free will" of the political police was almost legalized, which circumvented

and evaded compliance with general legal norms, acquiring a margin of action that was

all the wider as is the ever-extensive notion of defense of order. Simultaneously, the

regime began its legitimizing discourse on the political police, always reinforcing the

defense of order and harmony, always keeping an eye on the regime's and the

Portuguese people's tranquility, acting in a pacifying manner 24. Due to the rise of

opposition in the 50’s the PIDE was even more committed in the censorship. The PIDE

was in charge of finding and persecuting the opposers to the regime, but it was also in

charge of the censorship. The “lápis azul”25 was a famous process known due to

articles, books, journals, and other media things were censored with a blue pencil before

they were published. However, with these rises of opposers this just proved how

unqualified PIDE really was to apply the censorship needed according to Salazar

standards. The people that oversaw the censorships of books, journals, magazines and

so on, did not had enough qualifications to do this. There was a generalized lack of

culture amongst these people, which the lack of capacities to enforce this role allowed

for opposition ideas that should be censored ending up passing and being published.

Therefore, potentially harming the regime with the spread of the ideas that could

undermine the regime. Even though Salazar had as a priority to prevent the spreading of

ideas that were opposed to his regime, he did not have enough “resources” to have a

censorship that would 100% prevent the dissemination of these ideas, since the people

in charge as previously stated, were severely unqualified for their role.

The PVDE/PIDE used a variety of investigative methods as part of its competencies,

was supported by a large network of informants, and was endowed with funds that were

23 Pinto, D. M. G. (n.d.). ENSAIO SOBRE A EVOLUÇÃO POLÍTICA DO ESTADO NOVO. Core.ac.uk.
p.40
24 Ibid
25 The "lápis azul" was the symbol of censorship and the time of the Portuguese dictatorship in the 20th
century. The censors of the Estado Novo used a blue colored pencil in the cuts of any text, image or
drawing to be published in the press. To protect the dictatorship, cuts were justified as a means of
preventing and limiting attempts at subversion and defamation.
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not subject to public oversight 26. The methods evolved into a wide range of forms of

action, including encouraging denunciation, wiretapping, violation of correspondence,

searches and seizure of various material thought to guarantee incrimination. Also

surveillance and infiltration of agents and informants to obtain information that would

serve as the basis for the PVDE's political files and the PVDE's lawsuits27. The use of a

wide physical and psychological violence and torture against detainees as a means of

extorting "confessions or simply to intimidate them" was systematically adopted by the

PVDE/PIDE. The most frequently used were violent beatings on any part of the body,

with a kick, irons, or the butt of a gun, leaving visible marks on the prisoner, thereby

extending their detention28. Electric shocks and burns were also frequently used, and the

isolation of the prisoner, as a form of psychological torture, was combined with the

harshness of prison treatment through a poorly prepared and insufficient diet, often

salted, and then the distribution of water was reduced. The most basic physiological

needs of the human being were ignored and despised29. After the start of the

"collaboration" with the Gestapo and the Italian police, the forms of torture began to be

"perfected," and the PVDE began to use "scientific" and more subtle methods of torture,

which eliminated or at least reduced the visible marks of their use on the prisoners.

Such as "sleep torture" or the so-called "statue," in which the prisoner was forced to

stand for long hours without moving, sometimes with their arms raised30. In addition to

these forms of torture, among the special prisons of the PVDE there would be the harsh

living conditions of the Aljube, Angra, Caxias, and Peniche, penal colonies overseas

that would become notorious for their difficult conditions of survival31. The first,

created in southern Angola, would receive as its first prisoners the insurrectionists of

January 18, 1934. The second, and the most famous, created in Tarrafal, on the island of

São Tiago in Cape Verde, would receive the first 157 prisoners in October 193632.

Implanted in inhospitable places, with a particularly difficult climate, some of the

prisoners would end up succumbing to the dramatic conditions of health and nutrition,

26 Pinto, D. M. G. (n.d.). ENSAIO SOBRE A EVOLUÇÃO POLÍTICA DO ESTADO NOVO.
Core.ac.uk. Retrieved March 6, 2023, p.41
27 Ibid
28 Pinto, D. M. G. (n.d.). ENSAIO SOBRE A EVOLUÇÃO POLÍTICA DO ESTADO NOVO. Core.ac.uk.
p.42
29 Ibid
30 Ibid
31 Ibid
32 Ibid
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combined with physical mistreatment33. The PVDE/PIDE besides having a section that

dealt with the problems within the country like problems of political and social

spectrum they also had an international section that dealt with people coming in and out

of the country either Portuguese or foreigners. The PVDE would check their

documentation if they were legal, and if this people could be a threat to the regime. The

people that were considered as opposition to the regime and were viewed as a threat to

the regime, consequently, they would be arrested by PVDE with no trial, and could stay

in prison up to one year and six months since this was legally allowed.

In relation to the targets of PIDE involving social classes, PIDE did not target

specifically people from a higher or lower social class, anyone could be arrested

regardless of their social position. However, a lot of social and political figures that

could be a part of the leftist ideological spectrum suffered a bigger persecution. Due to

this one of the main targets of PIDE was people that could have any relation to the

communist party.

However due to the amount of repression PIDE did, when Marcello Caetano replaced

Salazar, he knew the Portuguese population had a very negative view of PIDE, so to

tackle this he replaced PIDE with DGS (Direcção Geral de Segurança) that had the

same powers as PIDE. The powers didn’t change much, but he was hoping that with this

change the people would not be so opposed to these political police. Again, this was

also only a nomenclature question.

Salazar then continued his path as "educator of souls" through the Ministry of National

Education, directed in 1936 by Carneiro Pacheco, designed to mold young people into

the values of nationalism, namely through the Mocidade Portuguesa34. The Mocidade

Portuguesa, established on March 19, 1936, included all youth, school-age or not, and

was intended to stimulate the integral development of their physical capacity, character

formation, and devotion to the Homeland, in the sense of order, the taste for discipline,

and the cult of military duty35. The project of turning the educational system into an

instrument to root the new mentality around the consensus of the trilogy "Deus, Pátria e

Familia” was made possible by three determining factors: first, the political and

33 Ibid
34 Pinto, D. M. G. ensaio sobre a evolução política do estado novo. p 48
35 Ibid
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institutional consolidation of the New State; second, the context of growing political

and military tensions in Europe; and third, the context of growing political and military

tensions in Europe. and finally, the influence of outside models, namely Hitler's youth

and the youth organizations of Italian fascism36.

1.1.3 The Political death of Salazar

In 1968 Salazar suffered an accident that would end his rule and political career in the

Estado Novo regime. To replace him after this accident that made him unable to govern

anymore, Marcello Caetano was the man appointed to replace Salazar. Marcello

Caetano previously graduated in law, brought great expectations between the more

progressive currents of the União Nacional. However, these expectations would be

quickly shattered after Marcello Caetano progressively saw his support falling from

both the progressists of the regime as the traditionalists. In addition to this, Marcelo

Caetano was overall seen by the military and the Portuguese population as a “softer”

leader when compared to Salazar. While in power, he maintained the Estado Novo

regime as well as the censorship and repression, that characterized the regime created by

Salazar. Politically, Marcello Caetano wanted to continue the path created by Salazar

but only with some upgrades, and to this he called “renovação na continuidade” where

it aimed at maintaining the same principles but with a modernization of the Portuguese

economy and industry. The 1969 elections were a watershed moment in the Marcelista

political spring, signaling both hope and frustration. On one hand, the election campaign

was relatively competitive37. On the other hand, the results were the same as in previous

elections, denying opposition members effective political participation38. In this context,

Marcello's missed the political opportunity to allow the politicians to form political

parties, which is a necessary condition for a democratic transition39.

36 Ibid
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1.1.4 The Marcelismo

It is also worth noting that the communist opposition was stronger than the moderate

republican opposition 40. What solidified Marcello's perception of the communist threat

and the non-communist opposition's political ineffectiveness contributed to the opening

of initial policy retreats with the argument that building bridges with the revolutionary

opposition is impossible41. For Marcello, the real threat to Portugal's social and political

order was communist ideology.

Marcello, though no longer as animated, remained convinced that, following the 1969

elections, a reorganization of the political system is required42. To that end, he will form

a new government, try to work with the new National Assembly deputies, and re-found

the regime's old party43. The situation with the National Assembly turned out to be

complicated. Despite the formal renovation, a sizable majority of deputies maintained

direct and indirect ties with the previous Estado Novo regime44. However, despite

differences in sensibilities, the parliament remained overwhelmingly conservative and

undemocratic45. The Liberal Wing, the newly elected independent deputies, were an

exception. These deputies accepted Marcello Caetano's invitation to run on the União

Nacional lists, but they were unaffiliated with the Estado Novo's apparatus policy46.

Young and politically inexperienced, they believed in the regime's internal evolution47.

They recognized the anachronism of the Estado Novo's corporative authoritarianism and

the need to overcome the regime's rigidity through liberalization that would facilitate a

democratic transition48. Melo e Castro had originally animated the Liberal Wing, which

was part of Marcello's project of controlled liberalization49. This means that there was

initially a visible political convergence between the Liberal Wing and Marcello

Caetano. However, after the start of the legislative session, it became clear that
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Marcello's controlled liberalization project and the Liberal Wing deputies' democratic

liberalization project were incompatible50. Liberal wing deputies wanted political

reforms and advances rapid liberalization. Marcello wanted a controlled liberalization

and with limits51. As time went on, these divergences were increasing and determined a

relationship of disenchantment and frustration between Marcello and the Liberal

Wing52.

1.1.5 The Colonial issue

There were two reasons for his persistent fear of exposing the regime, one structural and

the other conjunctive53. The first was his undemocratic personality and political culture,

as well as his belief that Portugal was not ready to become a democracy54. The second

concern was with the overseas issue, specifically the increasing difficulty of internally

and internationally legitimizing the continuation of the colonial war55. Despite the

difficulties, Portugal went to war in a context domestic and external, relatively

favorable, either from a point of view of normative legitimation or from a strategic-

military point of view56. However, ten years after this context had changed radically. At

internationally and domestically level, the three fronts of the war in Africa had less and

less support57. From an economic point of view, the war effort represented close to 40%

of the general state budget58. Even the military leaders began to be aware that the war

had no solution military. This idea was more present in Guinea, where, in 1972, the

military situation kept deteriorating59.

Aware of the difficulties, Guinea's Governor, and Commander-in-Chief, António

Spínola, proposes initiating political talks with the leader of the PAIGC, Amílcar Cabral,
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through the mediation of Senegal's President, Leopold Senghor60. Spínola travels to

Lisbon on the 26th of May after meeting with Senghor in Senegal to present his idea for

a political solution to Marcello and the minister of overseas affairs. Marcello quickly

disagreed with Spínola on the importance of continuing the talks61. According to his

political vision, Portugal could not negotiate with Amílcar Cabral because that would be

recognizing the PAIGC as a “belligerent force” possessing “important territorial

domain” which would amount to destroying all Portugal's juridical-political arguments

on the defense of overseas territories 62.

Its most infamous shortcoming was his inability to deal with political movements that

were not integrated or revised into the Estado Novo63. Marcello was never able to

engage in political dialogue with those who opposed to the continuation of the

authoritarian regime64.

Struggle Committees in universities began to spread Anticolonial linked to groups of

Marxist-Leninist and Maoist inspiration. After the Ministry of National Education

established the status exception in universities in 1971, the year 1972 is particularly

significant65. The causes of the unrest are rooted in the increased activism against the

colonial war and the announced education reform66. Several faculties at the Universities

of Lisbon and Coimbra organize protests and boycott exam administration67. In

response to the challenge, the government imposes the use of force, police incursions

ensue, and dozens of students are arrested or coercively incorporated into Armed

forces68.

Also, in the Catholic world, it was noted a growing opposition to the war, particularly in

progressive catholic churches69. Even the new hierarchy of the Church, led by Cardenal-
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Patriarch D. António Ribeiro, begins to adopt a distance from the government's colonial

policy. The execution of the "Vigil for peace" in the Capela do Rato is an example of

this anti-war environment that was being established in Portugal70. This Vigil and

especially the government's reaction, had a significant political impact71.

1.1.6 The watershed of the Portuguese colonialism

The year 1973 was pivotal and marked the beginning of the end of the Portuguese

colonialism. Aside from the growing agitation and radicalization of the opposition,

Marcello would lose the support of liberals and technocrats, exacerbate the distrust of

the ultras, and open a new front of conflict with the military, which will be fatal for him.

The year of 1973 will be a pivotal year in political movements, with social and political

forces showing publicly their opposition72. The classic opposition will hold its third

congress in Aveiro between the 4th and 8th of April73. This was the largest Democratic

Opposition Congress, with hundreds of communications. In Aveiro, there has been a

growing skewing of the opposition's political discourse, as well as a clear rift with the

government74.

Economic growth and social reforms were critical to Marcello's first-year

administration. However, the continuation of the war obscured and undermined the

regime's achievements. More than the difficulties of military strategy on the battlefield,

the issue was the political strategy of war management75. Regardless of how intertwined

they were, the main source of contention was the bad political gesture of the military

revindications76.
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During this period, the major issue was to resolve the military contestation led by

intermediation officials77. Marcello considered applying disciplinary procedures to the

contestants, but quickly realized that doing so would be impossible with hundreds of

officials78. The captains' movement contacted General Costa Gomes, who wouldl speak

directly with Marcello about the injustice that has been perpetrated against the officers

of the permanent board 79. Marcello did not approve of the Chefe de Estado-Maior

General das Forças Armadas (CEMGFA) resignation, particularly his role as defender

and spokesperson for a military movement. In his opinion, a government, even if it is

amid a war, cannot tolerate military insubordination and open contestation80.

Marcello recognized that the radicalization of the opposition, both to the right and to the

left, was spreading to society, but he failed in his rational solution of authoritarian

control, which, contrary to expectations, increased the radical appeal81. In the beginning

of March of 1973, several faculties at the University of Lisbon and Porto transformed

into "revolutionary centers," and unprecedented strikes occurred in the workplace82.

Economic and social conditions increasingly deteriorate. Nonetheless, Marcello insists

that the main issue is military agitation. Despite this, Marcello eventually gives in to the

press and, on December 24th, four diplomas are published with the intention of putting

an end to the military conflict83.

The 1974 political year begins with General Spínola's assumption of office in his new

position, unquestionably a way for him to compromise with the government, limiting

his options for an open contest84. Despite everything, this did not happen due to the

publication of his book Portugal e o Futuro85. The book had a significant impact and

sparked a minor political quake. The book argued for regime democratization, closer

ties with the CEE, recognition of the principle of self-determination, the end of the war,
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and a political (federalist) solution for the colonies to solve the conflict86. The

publication of the book was seen as a true manifesto against the government, and it

represented a political front for the capitalist movement87.

The Partido Comunista Angolano (PCA), which began as a cell of the Portuguese PC,

played an important role in enhancing the sense of a unified struggle of the entire

Empire against the Lisbon regime88. The PCA, along with other less organized groups,

eventually ended up joining the Movimento Popular de Libertação de Angola (MPLA),

founded in 1956. In Angola, three organizations took the lead in the process of national

liberation, FNLA, UNITA, and MPLA; these presented differences in terms of

ideological orientation, but more importantly, these movements were divided by

regional and ethnic differences89. The situation in Mozambique was different, but it did

not raise significant concerns for Portugal90. With the formation of FRELIMO in June

1962, Mozambique became the last colony to organize a national independence

movement91. In terms of ideological and structural cohesion, FRELIMO was the only

movement of territorial liberation (previously, there were some movements, but more of

regional and ethnic characteristics, as in the other colonies), that was weaker than the

movements in Angola and Guinea92. When Caetano came to power, Mozambique was in

turmoil93. Despite Frelimo's efforts to expand the conflict to the south, the fighting

remained confined to the northern provinces of Niassa and Cabo Delgado four years

after it began94. If the conditions in Angola and Mozambique were not already a source

of concern for Caetano, they became so in September95.

By 1968, the situation in Guinea was undoubtedly difficult. Guinea lacked the economic

potential of Angola or Mozambique, as well as a large colonial population96. However,

Portugal spent more in terms of military and human resources in this small colony, since
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the war began in 1963, than on any other colony97. The PAIGC pressure on Portugal

was ruthless: its operations centered on the territory's south and east, where guerrilla

tactics were used against the armed forces, attacking military transport convoys98.

However, the regime could still be maintained in Guinea, as the PAIGC, like the MPLA

and Frelimo, had to deal with internal divisions and fissures within the movements99. In

early 1968, Guinea's administrator was the former Minister of Defense of Salazar,

Arnaldo Schulz, who from the beginning had shown himself incapable of doing facing

the challenge posed to him by the guerrillas100. Hence, in May 1968, Salazar chose to

replace him, in a decision that would change the course of Portuguese history, António

de Spínola as governor and commander Guinea military101.

It was when Spínola had this role that he realized that the war could not be won military,

and it will be also in Guinea that the soldiers would realize that the war that had been

dragging for so long had no prospects of bringing any benefits to Portugal. The colonial

conflict was approaching a tipping point102. By declaring that the armed forces could

not be the 'praetorian guard of power,' Spínola revealed his strategy: to promote a

'palace coup,' which forced him to work from within the regime to force change from

the start103. Despite being a newcomer to the Captains Movement, Antônio Spínola is a

key figure in the process leading to the dictatorship's demise104.

Marcello received a phone call from the Defense Minister informing him that something

is going on in certain quarters and at the Military Academy105. On the 16th of March, it

was announced that there will be a mobilization of soldiers from the Infantry Regiment

No. 5 in Caldas da Rainha106. The coup attempt failed because it was not coordinated
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with a rigorous national operational plan, which was to take place on April 25th.

However, it was a clear indication of the anxiety that existed in the barracks107.

1.1.7 The fall of the dictatorship

On the 25 of April of 1974 a bit after midnight, the song Grândola Vila Morena by Zeca

Afonso was played in Rádio Renascença. This song was chosen by the MFA as the

green light to start the revolution. Hours later at 5 in the morning Marcello woke up

with a phone call from the director of the DGS saying that the revolution was in the

streets of Portugal108.

In the Quartel do Carmo after realizing the gravity of the situation Marcello Caetano

calls Andrade e Silva that was minister of the army to access the situation in which he

replied the situation was easily controllable109. However, this couldn’t be more far from

the reality. Marcello tried to take control of the situation but there was nothing he could

do. The revolution has started, and no one wanted to defend the regime110.

A military column with tanks, commanded by Captain Salgueiro Maia, left the Practical

School of Cavalry, in Santarém, and marched towards Lisbon. In the capital, he took up

positions with the ministries and then surrounded the GNR of the Quartel do Carmo

barracks, where Marcello Caetano had taken refuge. Even though the MFA warned the

population to stay inside, the population could not contain the excitement of the

revolution and filled the Terreiro do Paço in Lisbon to show the support to the MFA.

The Movimento dos Capitães arose as a result of the Portuguese army's inability to

maintain military operations against guerrilla groups in Angola, Guinea Bissau, and

Mozambique.
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Figure 1: 25 of April in Praça da figueira in Lisbon. Source:

https://www.cd25a.uc.pt/pt/page/157

The revolutionary process acquired socialist, communist and social-democratic

inspiration111. However, the Portuguese Revolution did not had its origin in Portugal. It

was a direct result of the peoples' struggles in what is known as Portuguese Africa, as

well as the suffering endured by the Portuguese army in the three theaters of war

(Angola in 1961, Guinea Bissau in 1963, and Mozambique in 1964)112. These battles

were taking place in an international setting marked by the Bandung Conference

(1955)113. But during that month of April 1974—and the months that followed—the

world's attention was focused on Portugal114. At a time when the Cold War was

resurfacing, the political process that was taking place in that nation caused anxiety in

Washington and a certain amount of excitement in Moscow115. Following the initial

shock, the US launched a number of initiatives to stop Portugal from becoming yet
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another Russian ally and to ensure that the developments there wouldn't have an impact

on neighboring Spain and lead to the overthrow of the Francoist dictatorship, which was

nearly as old as the Salazarist one116. In any case, the presence of Spínola and other

conservative elements in the Junta de Salvação Nacional and in the Provisional

Government, to be established after the 25th of April, made most of the countries with

which Portugal maintained diplomatic relations recognized, almost immediately, the

new political power installed in the country117.

However, no one expected this vertiginous outcome of the oldest colonial empire. The

most organized Party in Portugal at the time, the Portuguese Communist Party (PCP),

advocated the overthrow of the dictatorship as an alliance between the “masses allied

with the progressive military sectors", to combat the 'backwardness' of the country 118.

However, the regime falls into the hands not of the 'masses' or the soldiers, but of a

group of middle officers, gathered in the Movimento dos capitães, who no longer

wanted to go to war, which they considered lost119. The dragging of the war over 13

years without a glimpse of any political solution within the framework of Marcello

Caetano's regime and the imminence of defeat opened the crisis in the Armed Forces120.

The revolution is determined by the combination of the anti-colonial struggle with the

outbreak of struggles in the metropolis and vice versa, the situation in the metropolis

reinforced the legitimacy of the liberation movements in the colonies and precipitates

their independence in a short period of time (in 19 months all former colonies become

independent)121. It is rare for a right-wing government to be overthrown by its own

Armed Forces but this took place on the 25th of April of 1974 in Portugal. On the streets,

in cafes, on public transport, the environment was filled with happiness that the

dictatorship had finally come to an end122. The normally sad countenance of the

Portuguese shined with the prospects of freeing the country from the regime that had

dominated it for a long time123. The program of the MFA seems, in fact, to satisfy all or

116 Ibid
117 Ibid
118 Varela, R. (2012). “Um, dois, três MFA...”: o Movimento das Forças Armadas na Revolução dos
Cravos - do prestígio à crise. p.404
119 Ibid
120 Ibid
121 Ibid
122 25 de abril. Uma aventura para a democracia. Textos literários p.137
123 Ibid

28



almost all the aspirations of a people that for many years lived in growing development

of a guardianship that results in a constant appeal to duties with a parallel denial of

rights124. There was a military pronouncement, masterfully conceived and executed,

cavalierly conducted125. The so-called movimento dos capitães demonstrated that it was

not just another organization to diagnose and not act126. It acted with extraordinary

speed and simplicity, managed to dominate the country, the there was almost no

bloodshed, except for the the DGS that shot a few people. Power was handed over to the

Junta de Salvação Nacional presided over by General António de Spínola, which was

"required to commit, according to the general lines of the Program of the MFA, to make

a commitment, in the shortest period of time the new structures, to promote general

elections for a National Constituent Assembly, whose powers, by its representativeness

and freedom in election, would allow the country to freely choose its form of social and

political life127.

The victory of democracy and freedom put an end to the lápis azul and the prior

approval of censorship128. Left to hands with a short space of maneuver and forced to

authentic kidney blows in defense of the truth of the facts, the media professionals

where they too were the target of persecution and imprisonment129. With the 25th of

April, the doors of a new reality, where the plurality of thinking and acting were

assumed in their fullness130.

More than a corporate issue, the emergence of the Movimento dos Capitães bloomed out

of divisions within the ruling classes of the Estado Novo, the prolongation of the war, in

the context of an economic crisis whose depths had led to the end of the Bretton Woods

system and the 1973 oil shock131. A combination of factors that lead to the April 25th :

the MFA in the Carnation Revolution MFA, whose members were mostly from

intermediate sectors of society, not very politicized and limited to the goal of ending the

war, strike a coup d'état and formally hand over the direction of the country, through the
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Junta de Salvação Nacional (JSN), to a sector of the Portuguese elites represented by

António de Spínola, the general who a year earlier had published the famous Portugal e

o Futuro in which he advised a political solution to the war132.

1.2 The divergences within the MFA and the political instability

António de Spínola was from the beginning connoted with a federalist-type solution for

the colonies. After trying during the preparation of the coup to impose changes to the

MFA program – and be forced to back down –, states, in the first communication to the

country by the Junta de Salvação Nacional, after the coup, that the first political task of

the JSN was “to guarantee the survival of the Nation as a sovereign Homeland in its

pluricontinental whole”133. The following year, the MFA Program is published and

states that the overseas policy of the Provisional Government began by recognizing that

the solution to wars overseas is political not military134. In less than 24 hours, the

country learned that there were disagreements on the issue that prompted the coup: how

to end the war and find a solution for the colonies135. Regardless of its members' lack of

political experience, the MFA was opposed to the war, which motivated the middle

officers to carry out the coup136.

The First Provisional Government, which takes office on 16th of May of 1974, bringing

together members of the PCP, the Partido Socialista (PS), and the Partido Popular

Democrático (PPD) in an unstable and fragile coalition, cannot withstand the

intensification of social conflict in Lisbon and the colonies for more than two months137.

Its downfall was due to divisions within the government and the MFA and the National

Salvation Board on the solution to the colonial war, in which General António de

Spínola would represent the dragging of the solution to the colonies, in an attempt to

prolong Portuguese rule in Africa, while the MFA, the PCP and the PS wanted the
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independence of the colonies138. These divergences lead to the resignation of the prime

minister close to Spínola, Palma Carlos, on 9 July 1974, and that of António de Spínola

himself, on September 30, 1974139.

The crises that pushed Portugal to the left also pushed Portuguese Africa to

independence. They arose as a series of sometimes protracted conflicts in which

tensions in Portuguese politics, events in Africa, and external pressures converged to

cause serious clashes140. The underlying causes of these crises were well known to most

politicized Portuguese, even though the Portuguese press did not publicize them, and

when it did, it did so vaguely141. It was clear that the political instability Portugal was

experiencing in this period was deeply connected and affected the period of post-

independence of the former colonies.

After this confrontation was resolved with the removal of General Spínola and the

nomination of General Costa Gomes to the Presidency of the Republic, social unrest

continued to rise, reaching a new peak on March 11, 1975142.The period of tension that

followed became known as the "Verão quente," and culminated with the military

movements of November 25, 1975, and the definitive victory of those who desired a

political system based on democratic elections and popular will143.

In this exceptional period of less than nine months, profound changes in Portuguese

society occurred, to which few were immune144. People and social groups had the

opportunity to express their positions and demonstrate a growing awareness of the

principles and values at stake, whether through spontaneous movements motivated by

immediate problems related to the most diverse social needs, or through large

demonstrations mobilized as a result of their union or party membership145. And, if this

growing participation must be highlighted as a new phenomenon in the daily lives of the

Portuguese, it is especially important to recall, during this period, the most
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extraordinary and conclusive manifestation of the Portuguese people — the Constituent

Assembly's electoral act on April 25th of 1975146. This electoral act is, at the same time,

a point of arrival, as the maximum realization of the promises contained in the MFA

Program, the culminating act of a democratic process continued despite all the

vicissitudes, and a starting point of the most virulent polemics surrounding the assumed

opposition between the democratic process and the revolutionary process147. As a matter

of fact, from March 11th, the forces intervening in the political process will position

themselves more clearly in relation to those two processes: while the more radical leftist

forces, including the PCP, make the importance of the revolutionary conquests prevail,

taking as a program a continuous advance of the revolution, although evidently with

different practical orientations, other forces, especially led by the PS and the PPD,

defend, above all, the continuation of the democratic process and, therefore, the holding

of elections and the adequacy of the model of society to election results148.

The Constituent Assembly's work began on June 2nd of 1975, coinciding with one of the

most troubled periods following the 25th of April. The months that followed saw an

increase in political tension and violence149. The supporters of the "revolutionary way"

and the supporters of the "European model of democracy" were clashing150. On

November 12th of 1975, a demonstration surrounded the São Bento Palace, where the

Constituent Assembly was meeting, and was mostly made up of construction workers

fighting for the signing of the collective labor contract151. The victory of the moderate

military in the far-left officers' uprising on November 25th of 1975, marks the defeat of

the MFA's "revolutionary wing" and returns political parties to the center of political

life152. On April 2nd of 1976, the Constituent Assembly approved the Constitution of the

Portuguese Republic, with only one political party, the CDS, voting against. The

revolutionary spirit of the time was reflected in the constitutional text, which set as

goals for the state the transition to socialism, the exercise of power by the working
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classes, and the collective ownership of the main means of production153. The 1976

Constitution enshrines fundamental rights and duties such as the principle of equality,

freedom of the press, religious freedom, labor, social and cultural rights. Adding to this,

establishes the President of the Republic, the Council of the Revolution, the Assembly

of the Republic, the Government and the Courts as sovereign bodies, integrates the local

authorities and the administrative regions into the political organization of the State, and

establishes the autonomous regions of the Azores and Madeira154. On April 25th of 1976,

the first elections to the Assembly of the Republic are held. The revolution and the

process of establishing democracy were felt in all sectors: in the media, in education, in

culture, at work, in society, in the economy and in mentalities, thus achieving, in 1976,

two objectives proposed by the MFA program: the democratization of the country and

decolonization155.
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Chapter 2

Portugal in the international context

2.1 Portuguese foreign policy during the Estado Novo regime

2.1.1 Portugal and NATO

In the beginning of the cold war there were two antagonist ideologies, from USSR and

the USA. That in this sphere, each one wanted to attract and exert their influence on

other countries, so they had their support156. Therefore, to tackle the soviet threat,

NATO was created on a basis of a military alliance that if a member country of NATO

suffered any armed attack this would be considered an attack to all the member

countries of NATO157. This Atlantic alliance was created in 1949 with Portugal being

one of the founding members. However, these rises important questions. To begin with,

why the invite to Portugal? Portugal was an authoritarian regime, underdeveloped and

had maintained a certain neutrality position during the World War ll as well as a quite

isolationist policy158. So, what could Portugal offer to this alliance?

Portugal’s invitation to be a founding member of the Atlantic Pact was inextricably

linked to the geostrategic importance of the Azores. Since 1944, following the Anglo-

Portuguese agreement of October 1943, the USA had access to bases in the Azores

(initially in the island of Santa Maria, and from 1946 onwards in Lajes, Terceira)159. In

the early years of the Cold War, US–Portuguese relations reflected a constant tension

between the government of the Portuguese dictator, Oliveira Salazar, and the Truman

Administration160. Though allowing for the US presence in the Azores, Salazar’s regime

showed great reluctance regarding the existence of an American base in its territory161.
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On the eve of the Cold War, the USA regarded the Azores, along with Greenland and

Iceland, as a ‘primary base area162’.

The contribution of this archipelago to transatlantic security was therefore ‘the most

vital single spot in the world´ in terms of bases for the staging of air transport and

combat aircraft. In this sense, it was essential to put an end to what the USA considered

an ‘undefined status’ in the Azores, since the presence of US forces was only assured

through a bilateral agreement signed with the Portuguese Government, which

established a short-term period for the presence of the North-American forces in Lajes.

Therefore, this was this the essential reason for the invitation to Portugal, to whose

territory the islands of the Azores added strategic value. An important basis already in

first war, would prove decisive in the second and crucial in the during the cold war.

“In the year that followed on April 11th of 1918, the United States established a naval

base in the Azores. The New York Times announced that this naval base would serve

“American submarines, destroyers, and other small craft with the consent of Portugal in

order to protect Atlantic trade routes to southern Europe. American officers stationed on

the Azores islands would continue to garner favor amongst locals. The Azoreans felt

that Lisbon had abandoned the islands and valued the attention the Americans lavished

upon the archipelago163.”

During the World War ll the allies had always concerns about the neutrality of the

Iberian Peninsula. During the World War ll both Spain and Portugal were under

authoritarian dictatorships, therefore the concern of the allies were two. One of them

was that since they were dictatorships from a right wing maybe they could sympathize

with Hitler and let him use the Iberian Peninsula to fight the allies. The second one was

if just Hitler decided to invade Iberian Peninsula and use the strategic position of the

Iberian Peninsula to have an advantage towards the allies. Either way, both the allies

and the axis power knew how important the strategic Iberian Peninsula was, particularly

Portugal.
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Located on the edge of the continent, Portugal had a more careful neutrality than

Franco´s Spain. Lisbon was a center for wartime relief, efforts, refugees, and a source of

information where Axis and Allied agents were able to operate freely. Yet, Portugal´s

value as a neutral was offset by its strategic value164. Portuguese seaports and islands

could extend German military power further into the Atlantic and help open the way to

Gibraltar and coastal North Africa. It could also offer the allies easier operations on the

continent. The British feared a German move against Gibraltar through Spain and

Portugal, therefore the British and the US focused on the strategic significance of

Portugal’s Atlantic islands, especially the Azores165. “On June 16, 1943, Sir Ronald

Hugh Campbell, the British Ambassador to Portugal, wrote to Salazar, petitioning him

to lease the Azores to the United Kingdom(…)Sir Campbell implored Salazar to permit

the United Kingdom use of facilities in the Azores for “the operation of aircraft and

surface vessels [which] would be a decisive factor in the early defeat of the German

submarine campaign in the Atlantic and, consequently, a vital contribution to an early

victory of the United Nations166.”The Azorean islands of São Miguel and Terceira

would be used to operate general reconnaissance aircraft, with unrestricted fueling

facilities for naval escorts at São Miguel or Fayal. In order to persuade Salazar to allow

the British use of facilities in the Azores, Sir Campbell made this request of Salazar in

the name of the Alliance which had existed between Portugal and Great Britain for six

hundred centuries167.

Included in the Pentagon's military defense system for the post-war period, the base in

the Azores had already been the object of a bilateral agreement between Portugal and

the United States in 1948168. With NATO, the value will be strengthened in a

multilateral framework and its role confirmed in the Alliance's strategic concept that in

the event of an attack coming from the east, the so-called "rapid reinforcement of

Europe" inevitably passed through the Azores169.
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Why did Portugal accept the invite?

Salazar was aware of the Soviet threat. therefore, the Atlantic Alliance was the only way

out to assure Western security. The geostrategic situation of Portuguese territory and the

particularly situation of the cold war imposed on Portugal an adherence to the Alliance,

and not simply a bilateral agreement with the United States170 . Salazar was also

concerned about the victory of democracies over totalitarian governments

simultaneously created some political issues for the Estado Novo (New State)171.

Furthermore, the spread of liberalism and democracy throughout Western Europe

appeared to cause issues for the authoritarian governments in Iberia172. to uphold its

long-standing principles of foreign policy, Portugal needed to strengthen its ties with the

USA, the new Atlantic power173. Portugal had experienced an unstable geopolitical

balance between Europe and the Atlantic174. With a larger and more powerful Spanish

neighbor and a peripheral position in relation to the rest of Europe, Portugal had always

viewed itself as primarily an Atlantic state committed to maintaining its colonial

empire175. Also, it regarded the Atlantic and the alliance with other western actors as a

balancing factor for preventing the country's isolation. Therefore, Portugal's

international status needed to be revised, so that was what was at stake176.

Also of big importance, the traditional relationship with the UK, an element of

continuity throughout the different political regimes that ruled Portugal, was essential

for the international survival of the country, particularly in assuring its Atlantic

vector177. Consequently, the Portuguese Government saw in the ancient Alliance with

Great Britain the main stronghold of its foreign policy178. After Second World War, the

international position of Salazar’s regime was weakened179. The allies’ victory and the
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emergence of the USA as the main Atlantic power gradually, though not entirely,

diminished the relevance of the long-lasting Alliance with the UK180.

It was already obvious to Portugal that the United States should be part of the European

defensive zone as "a crucial prerequisite to success" due to US power in Europe181. But

to maintain the geographical and strategic unity of Europe and the Iberian Peninsula, it

should also include Franco's Spain182. Furthermore, Portugal believed that the Pact

should be expanded into all the European colonial possessions in order to guarantee the

defense of the Portuguese colonies183. The Pact should not, however, be used as a tool to

guarantee the USA's long-term presence in the Azores, in more in more favorable

conditions. Finally, the Alliance should reinforce the intergovernmental cooperation,

avoiding any type of supranational integration184.

2.1.2 Critics to the accession of Portugal

Some nations criticized the authoritarian traits of the Portuguese government and

highlighted how it was damaging for Portugal to be a member of an alliance that aimed

to uphold liberal institutions and the democratic spirit185. However, from the US

perspective, Portugal's neutrality, and proximity to the allies during the Second World

War's closing stages, as well as the Estado Novo's fervent anti-communist nature, were

sufficient grounds for extending an invitation186. In October 1948, Portugal was first

approached about the possibility of joining the future Alliance thanks to British support

for the USA's position187. The Portuguese government recognized the importance of

forging a transatlantic alliance, particularly in the area of defense, to counter the Soviet

threat in Europe. Despite the fact that Salazar didn’t sympathize with the western

democracies. In a scenario of global bipolarization and the worsening of the Cold War, a

Portuguese refusal, with all its consequences, represented a responsibility that was too
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much for Salazar in the eyes of political leaders and Western public opinion188.

Furthermore, a Portuguese refusal could still be interpreted as a sign of weakness and

yielding to Franco Spain189.

Despite the reluctance demonstrated by Lisbon, it is undeniable that the participation in

the Atlantic Pact was crucial for the legitimization of the Portuguese authoritarian

regime international position, highly diminishing the risk of its isolation190. Also, in

terms of ideology it was crucial for Salazar to be apart in this “crusade” against the

soviet communism and defend and maintain the Christian values191. Added to this, the

invitation to Portugal was a unique opportunity to reinforce the country’s significance in

the international system, bringing it closer to the Western powers and clearly setting it

apart from Franco’s regime in Spain. This inclusion of Portugal and the exclusion of

Spain in the Alliance gave Portuguese foreign policy a preponderant place in the

peninsular framework and a privileged interlocutor in the extra-peninsular framework

192.In a period of intense international adjustment, with the beginning of the Cold War,

Portugal had to adapt its own foreign policy, becoming closer to the USA while also

maintaining a stable relationship with the UK.

2.2 Portugal and the United Nations

In May of 1945, Salazar declared his interest on the new international organization that

was being created193. Portugal applied to the UN in 1945 and was finally accepted in

1955194. Portugal was accepted as member of the UN by a special session of the general

assembly in 14 of December of 1955195. Later, the declaration of acceptance for

Portugal about the constant obligations of the charter196. Was submitted to the general
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secretary in 21 of February of 1956 which marks the date that went into force for

Portugal197

But why did Salazar wanted to be a part of the United Nations? Well, being accepted in

the United Nations would concede a sort of legitimacy to Salazar regime since being

accepted in this organization meant that the Portuguese regime would be “approved” by

some important western countries. In 1949 they were founding members of NATO, and

this would briefly fulfil the Salazar desire of being accepted in the international

community. However, when comparing to NATO, Salazar would face much bigger

problems in the UN. Apart from the anti-colonialist wave Portugal would face in the

UN, when applying to the organization the USSR was also an obstacle for its entry.

“The power given to the permanent members of the Security Council meant that the

USSR was able to veto Portuguese admittance for a decade. Also, starting as early as

1946, the General Assembly became a major forum for anti-colonialism. Salazar was

not alone in failing to predict how quickly the UN — boosted by the strategic and

ideological disputes of an emerging Cold War — would take on this role198”. Salazar

was trying to maintain its authoritarian regime and its colonies while the rest of the

international community had strong ideologies of democracy and a growing support for

the auto determination of the colonies still existing199. In the view of Salazar, it was

worth to abandon this position of isolationism and have cooperation with other

countries if that meant the preservation of the Portuguese colonies200. “Failure to get

into the UN was being used by its political opponents as evidence that Salazar’s

authoritarianism201.” Since United Nations were composed predominantly of

democracies and for a state that wanted to enter the United Nations, this state had to be

considered a “peaceful state”202. Even though controversies were presented about

Portugal entering the UN, from a perspective of a state being peaceful, Portugal was

indeed fulfilling this requirement203.
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Salazar facing this anti colonialist majority in the general assembly had to come up with

something that would make his regime not seem authoritarian and anti-colonialist. But

of course, the international community and the UN knew Portugal had colonies just as

Belgium and Great Britain. So, to counter this, before accessing the UN Portugal did a

new constitution that the Portuguese colonies would stop being addressed as colonies

but as a part of Portugal territory, but simply it was overseas territories. “In 1952 the

Portuguese Constitution was amended to state that Portugal no longer had colonies; the

territories concerned were now to be designated províncias ultramarinas [overseas

provinces] and to be regarded as integral parts of a unitary pluricontinental state204.”

After this constitution Salazar was hoping the critics about his regime would diminish

but this was not the case, because the other countries were completely aware that this

new designation wouldn’t change anything, these colonies were still under rule of

Portuguese domination205. But still, Salazar wouldn’t mind facing this criticism if that

meant that this new constitution would be enough for Portugal to enter the United

Nations.

Furthermore, domestic politics made Portuguese admission to the UN desirable for the

Estado Novo. Failure to get into the UN was being used by its political opponents as

evidence that Salazar’s authoritarianism had led to international isolation after 1945206.

The Portuguese membership in NATO had already made that argument more difficult to

sustain. However, the fact that Portugal was finally admitted to the UN on 14 December

1955, and its continued membership after that date, meant that the Portuguese state was

recognized as a full member of the post-1945 international system, regardless of the

nature of the regime or the international criticism that it might attract207.

In the short term, and for a few years, this strategy appeared to result in some

diplomatic success for Portugal208. The diplomats were also able to make tactically

clever use of UN procedural rules, such as the requirement for a two-thirds majority for

votes on important issues - and the anti-colonial bloc had conceded this was such an
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issue by repeatedly claiming that Portuguese denial of colonialism represented a vital

threat to global order. This ensured that any decision against Portugal would be delayed

due to a lack of a sufficient anti-colonial majority in the General Assembly prior to

1960209.

Since the first year of Portugal in the UN they faced a prolonged fight in the United

Nations but also outside, due to its lingering colonialism210. Portugal was able to

maintain its colonies until 1974 despite all the criticism and opposition it faced, this was

mainly due to the arguments of historic juridic nature it used211. These arguments were

used to defend the legitimacy of Portugal’s positions when it came to the Ultramar.

However, the entry of the newly independent states in 1959, a special committee called

the committee of the 6 was nominated to deliberate the competences of the un to deal

with colonial problems would cause problems to the defense argument used by the

Portuguese regime212.

The conclusions of the report that was produced and presented in 1960, conceded the

anti-colonialist movement an even bigger legitimacy not just in the UN but also in the

international political life213. In this report we should add also the resolutions of the GA

nº 1514 (relative to the concession of independence of the countries and povos

coloniais), 1541 (incorporates the report of the committee of the six about the status of

non-autonomous territories) and 1542 (relating to the non-autonomous Portuguese

territories)214. These resolutions made in 1960 would mark the beginning of the end

historic juridic defense that Portugal had been using as an argument215.

When Portugal was accepted into the UN it was asked if Portugal administrate any

territory that could be applied to the article 73º of the charter216. In which the

Portuguese response was that they didn’t possess any territories that were applied to the
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referred article217. Portugal despite clearly being a colonial power, in the view of the

Portuguese state it was up to them to define the exclusive right to interpret and apply

their constitutional order218. However, the UN considered that for the fact that Portugal

was admitted in the UN as sovereign state and not as a territory that could not be any

doubt about their territorial extension and its political structure219. Therefore, the

Portuguese government responded that by the legislation produced under the Filipino

rule, it was mentioned that Portugal and its non-European provinces are not distinct or

separate of the kingdom220. So, the Portuguese would use this defense of a preexistent

reality with historical meaning to justify their colonies221. Under the point of view of the

Portuguese state a person born in Angola was just as Portuguese as one person that was

born in Lisbon222. This doctrine emphasized the unitary structure of the Portuguese state

attributing this equality to everyone who was born in its territory223.

From 1959 due to the increase of the number of afro Asian countries in the assembly,

the un became even more anti colonialist and it was approved a constitution of a

committee that could determine if certain territories could be declared or not as

autonomous224. This did not help the Portuguese cause since this committee stated that

non autonomous territories were those geographically separated and

ethnically/culturally different225. Analyzing the Portuguese case the committee declared

that the existence of the institution of “indigenous” it was a proof (under a juridic point

of view) that the populations in the “provincias ultamarinas” were not in the same step

of equality as the population in the metropole226. Since the enforcement of laws varied

amongst the metropole and the provincias ultramarinas these last one were placed in a

position of inferiority227. The UN deliberated also, the metropole was much more

developed than the “provincias ultramarinas” and the legitimacy of the Portuguese

historical presence was considered irrelevant since it was based in war and through
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military conquest228. Until the Portuguese constitution of 1951 the provincias

ultramarinas were in fact colonies since they also didn’t have their own government229.

And regardless of the nomenclature the Portuguese wanted to use there was also never

done a democratic consultation to these people about their will230. So, the conclusion

from the un and the principles contained in the “report of the six” is that Portugal was

not in line with the article 73º 231. Portugal’s response was that according to its

constitution they did administer any non-autonomous territories, constitutionally

Portugal was a nation politically unitary and since it was the government role to

interpret and apply their own constitutions Portugal considered the United Nations

incompetent to deal with this subject232. Adding to this the admission of Portugal in the

UN also meant that they recognized the legitimacy of its constitution. The anti-colonial

offensive against the Portuguese regime was portrayed as a violation of key UN Charter

norms, specifically Article 2 on sovereign equality and non-interference233. The

Portuguese case went even further, accusing the General Assembly of violating the very

universality of the rights and norms it claimed to be defending in arguing for the

abolition of colonialism by using ethnicity and territorial discontinuity as a criterion for

determining the absence of self-determination234.

As previously stated, the rise of newly independent African countries contributed to a

shift in power in the United Nations, most notably in 1960, where these new states

brought a change of perspective and a majority of an anti-colonialist sentiment235.

Belgium, France, and Portugal had been collaborating throughout their years of

participation in the United Nations because these countries were colonial powers with

similar interests in preserving their colonies236. Until 1959, governments in Paris,
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Brussels, and Lisbon had converged in a determination to resist decolonization in the

name of a shared belief in a necessarily slow pace for real overseas development, and a

cultural and strategic preference for some kind of integration into a unitary state over

full independence237.

Due to this the Portuguese shared interests with the other colonial powers, Salazar was

relying on the support of the western countries to support the Portuguese perpetuation of

colonialism238. However, this new wave of anti-colonialism did affect and brought

changes to the colonial powers, they gave in to the pressure and started their

decolonization process. The sudden change of direction towards rapid decolonization

by France and Belgium was even more unexpected because Portugal had been engaged,

since 1957, in regular diplomatic quadripartite consultations with Belgium, Britain and

France, with a strong focus on the UN239.

The situation also aggravated even more to Portugal when the first uprising which

marked the beginning of the Portuguese colonial war took place in Angola in 1961. This

armed uprising and the ones who followed next being in Angola but also in

Mozambique ang guinea were a proof that designated provincias ultramarinas

designated by Salazar, were indeed colonies. The beginning of the colonial proved the

denial of the Portuguese colonialism and gave reason to the countries in the UN that

claimed that these were colonies and were not under rule by the Portuguese by choice.

When Belgium proceeded to decolonization in the 1960 as well as France this did not

cooperate in Portugal favor, since Portugal used to cooperate and share interests with

Belgium and France. Consequently, this had a negative impact for the Portuguese cause

since Portugal was being left more alone and loosing support from the western powers,

and this made the Portuguese insistent argument on defending its cause even harder.

While British officials seriously considered leaving the UN Committee on

Decolonization, which they eventually did in 1971, the British government never

seriously considered resisting the trend toward relatively rapid decolonization240. Yet

this is precisely what Portugal, a much smaller state, did: it retained all its overseas
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territories while making no moves toward independence and remaining a member of the

UN241. As a result of tensions with the Afro-Asian or Non-Aligned Bloc, Portugal

became increasingly a rogue state, as did some of its Western allies, particularly the

United States, the Nordic countries, and even Britain and the Netherlands242.

Why Portugal facing all this hostility, why didn’t they leave the un at this point? The

justification for this is that Portugal believed it had every right to be a part of the UN

and abandoning the UN would mean a lack of courage and arguments to defend the

Portuguese regime. In fact, Portugal had no reason to abandon the UN, the Portuguese

regime had nothing to lose, besides simply facing critics on their colonialist

perpetuating behavior. Even with anti-colonialist states in the UN challenging Portugal,

the is that Portugal was still a part of the UN, and indeed it was accepted and seen as

state that fulfilled the requirements to be a part of this organization243. Salazar achieved

want he wanted, that was be in the UN so Portugal would be accepted in the new world

order and be seen as a legitimate and peaceful state. Therefore, Portugal didn’t abandon

the UN because it would not bring any benefit for the Estado Novo regime.

In 1973, there was more evidence that Portugal was becoming a pariah state for the

majority of the United Nations244. Guinea Bissau independence was declared

unilaterally by the PAIGC in September. This was a significant departure from previous

decolonization precedent, but it was recognized by the majority of states. Portugal

suffered significant embarrassment as a result of its call for UN membership, because

even Western Cold War allies like Britain and the Netherlands were hesitant to appear

too close to Portugal and its colonialism in denial245. Portugal that refused to give in to

the pressure of decolonization even with all the criticism and lost support. This made

Portugal the longest empire to exist in history while it only proceeded to the

decolonization after the carnation revolution, when the Estado Novo regime finally

ended.
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Chapter 3

Angola

3.1 The origins of the Angolan nationalism

Even though the main uprising against the metropole that would lead to a fight for

independence took place in 1961, that were previous episodes of contestation against

the Portuguese colonialism. This roots back years, even centuries before the Angolan

uprising of 1961. The Portuguese discovered Angola in the xv century and from the

colonization period until the Angolan independence, the country would experience

many changes, not just by the Portuguese administration but also by other international

actors246. Several historical, regional, and international helped shaping this change, such

as the Brazilian independence, the ending of the traffic of slaves, the conference of

Berlin, conference of Brussels, alliances and contracts between the colonial powers in

Europe247. The consequence of this led to the mixing of diverse people of varies

kingdoms that had as well diverse beliefs of cultural values and ethnolinguistic

diversities248.

As mentioned before, the dissatisfaction against the Portuguese colonialism was already

verified in years before, even before the 20th century. These origins of the Angolan

nationalism could be placed throughout the course of the centuries and also through

regions. We can emphasize the resistance of Ngola Kiluanje of the queen N´ginga,

Cordeiro da Matta and Mutu ia Kevela249. Also the first Luso Ovibumdu war and the

second Luso Ovibumdu war are significant marks of insurrection against Portugal250.

They all showed their dissatisfaction agaisnt the portuguese colonialism and contributed

for the rise of the Angolan nationalism251.
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In 1933 when the dictatorial regime of Salazar was consolidated, his plans for the

colonies included the incentive of the occupation of the colonies by the Portuguese252.

This resulted in a big increase of the white population in Angola, which consequently

lead to the weakening of the creole bourgeoisie and increased the feeling of antagonism

between the Angolans and Portuguese253. This antagonism was also a result of the white

populations or the crioulos who (traditionally) possessed lands and would enforce labor

to the indigenous population254.

Also, the church had a significant role in the spreading of the nationalist feeling. The

church had affinity with other churches of foreign countries, in which they would

support them in many ways, mostly in health and education255. With this support the

church would show openly their dissatisfaction against the Portuguese colonialism and

the Portuguese troops 256.

The national league that then later became ANANGOLA ( Associação dos Naturais de

Angola) was the first nationalist organization to exist in Angola257. The ANANGOLA

had a revolutionary tendency and had to operate in a “clandestine way” due to the heavy

repressions made by the authoritarian regime of the metropole 258. As we will discuss

later, most of the movements of liberations of the Portuguese African colonies could not

operate inside the country do the sanctions and persecution made the PIDE259.

Due to the rising of the nationalist movements the Portuguese government implemented

the PIDE to repress the nationalists260. The mass imprisonments began in 1959, having

the main leaders being the most persecuted, hence why the liberation movements had to

go out of the country so they could develop 261.
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3.2 The PIDE in Angola

The PIDE of Angola had a hierarchical structure consisting of the main delegation and

several Sub-delegations and posts262. The Delegation was the central body, which

maintained links with the headquarters in Lisbon and the other sub-delegations which,

aimed at the effectiveness of research, collection, compilation a of information263. With

a certain amount of autonomy, they activated the Posts under their jurisdiction, enabling

an exchange of information, always centralized in the Delegation264. The Angolan

delegation carried out administrative, criminal prevention and repression functions

identical to those exercised by similar services in the metropolis265. This PIDE was

created in 1954, based in Luanda. Although the formation of the special staff of PIDE

personnel in service overseas dates from 1956, the services of the Angolan Delegation

only began to function in 1957 at the Border Posts, installed at the airport and port of

Luanda266. That same year, personnel from the Angolan Public Security Police were

transferred to the special staff overseas and in 1961 the PIDE that worked in service for

the metropole and in the colonies was gathered in a single personal board267 With the

cold war the PIDE would do surveillance in all the areas in Angola due to the fear of

activities that could be considered “subversive” in the African territories268. Salazar

wanted to keep external actors from exerting their influence in the colonies particularly

when it came to something of communist “intent”269.

The fear of PIDE when it came down to this subversive propaganda was that the

communist was growing around the world, so the concern was this could originate the

creation of revolutionary groups in Angola270. P 307. In 1960 it arrived in Angola

pamphlets and manifests of the “Terceira Internacional Comunista” that was initiated

after the Russian revolution. With this it began the circulation of the subversive

propaganda in Angola271.
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Other documents, that were circulating in the Portuguese colonies, were seized by the

PIDE and sent to the Ministry of the Interior of Portugal. In the eyes of PIDE the

content of the documents served to stimulate a revolution272. These documents would

mention insurrection was necessary to reach the “dictatorship of the proletariat” and end

the problems of capitalism throughout the 19th and 20th centuries273. They also

contained information about the earlier international conferences and on the philosophy

of Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels in the field social and economic274. This communist

thinking was PIDE's greatest fear because it could lead to a rebellion and thus lost its

possessions in Africa275. However, although the PIDE tried to censor these documents,

there were some people who had contact with this Marxist literature inside and also

outside Africa276.

Secret meetings were held by students to discuss Marxist issues across Africa and the

colonial emancipation after encountering this communist literature. The PIDE tried not

to allow this and whenever it discovered the meetings and arrested everyone, sending

the leaders to Portugal or Tarrafal277. There were cases also of Angolan students, who

were in universities in the Metropolis, sent information to Angola and to students who

were in the liberation movements278. The Students' Union from Angola and

Mozambique scheduled meetings in other European countries, such as one that took

place in Zurich, Switzerland279. At that meeting, the Angolan students agreed to with

other students from across Europe and Africa to combine a network around the world,

where they could exchange some information, because in their territories, they were

prevented to circulate280. While the students sought to build a network, the PIDE

surveilled everyone in their territories by exchanging information with their partners to

be able to track everyone who left the country281.
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A factor they also gave rise to question the Portuguese colonialism according to PIDE

was the fact that Portugal sent white Portuguese/white soldiers to the regions in Africa

which made the African people questioning282. Why were they still under Portuguese

domination? Another factor that made the population rethink their situation was the

independence of Congo283. The independence of Congo took place in 1960, and

obviously when it came to this matter important themes like the imperialism, and the

independence of Congo from also a European colonial power (Belgium) sparked

discussions in Angola284. Furthermore, the Angolans did not have to worry about

depending on the Portuguese rule since the country was considered wealthy in natural

resources, had a costal area that would surely attract tourism and its raw materials could

also be exported, which would leave Angola in a good position if they achieved their

independence285. The Portuguese government was fully aware of what Angola could

offer and that’s why after the Brazilian independence, Angola became the African gem

of the Portuguese empire286. This was also the reason why the Portuguese enforced a lot

of work, efforts, and soldiers when the liberation war started in Angola.

3.3 The fight for independence

As we have discussed previously many factors were involved in the “plantation” of the

sentiment of nationalism for the Angolans, as well as there were also several factors that

contributed to the beginning of the uprising of the armed fight for the independence of

Angola. Besides being influenced by the independence of their neighboring countries as

well as other factors in 1961, the episode in Baixa do Cassange would be the “last drop”

that would trigger their fight for the independence. In the 50´s cotton was planted under

colonial order in baixa do cassanje by the peasants in an intensive labor in the fields of

Cotonang. After the independence of Congo, with new political entities, there was an

increase in dissatisfaction which lead to a peasant revolt in January 1961287. This

episode was the most relevant one about contestation of the working conditions
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imposed under colonial rule288. There were factors that made this episode more

important such as the population involved, the geographical area and the violence

used289. However the Portuguese regime wanted to hide the origins of the revolt, mainly

the motivations of the peasants, so it could come across that everything was normal in

Angola290. This led to a big misinformation about what was happening due to the

censorship made by the Portuguese, since they also banned foreign journalists291. The

only information available were the testimonies of some Africans and missionaries that

reported the information outside of Angola and were able to break this informative

interception done by the Portuguese authorities292.

3.3.1 Baixa de Cassange

ln the 1950's, forced cultivation of cotton in Baixa de Cassange swept away African

farms and villages, subjecting the population lo intensive work under the vigilance of

Cotonang agents293. As the annual incomes of Africans fell, discontent grew . ln 1961,

before the nationalist uprisings of 4 February and 15 March, a revolt of rural

populations in Baixa de Cassange took place which is almost completely unknown

because it was deliberately hidden and harshly repressed by the colonial authorities,

unpublished sources and inaccessible archives of Oliveira Salazar and the PIDE have

made possible a chronological reconstruction of events in Baixa de Cassange between

January and March 1961, besides enabling a deeper understanding of the internal factors

which led to this rural movement294. This peasant movement was deeply rooted in rural

suffering, seems to have had scarce relation with Angolan nationalist movements which

in the same year started the war of liberation295.

In December of 1960 that were observed the first sign of resistance by the peasants

where they refused to pay the tax and started to openly challenge the colonial authorities
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and the agents of Cotonang296. The military forces sent initiated the repression on the 3

of February, supported by the aviation they launched napalm bombs over the

population297. This resulted in a massacre made not just by the bombings but also for the

summary executions that the estimative of the dead variated, according to authors, from

hundreds to 20.000 deaths298. Cotonang episode served as an incentive for the beginning

of the armed struggle for the independence from the metropole.

3.4 Movements of National Liberation

3.4.1 MPLA

THE MPLA was created in 1956 after the unification of the Partido da Luta Unida dos

Africanos de Angola (PLUA) as well and the Movimento de Independência Nacional

Angolano (MINA) and the partido comunista angolano pca. The ethcicity mbundo

(quibundos) were the biggest supporters, but it also counted with the support of other

tribal groups299
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Figure            2:            Portuguese            supports            towards            the            MPLA.

Source:https://www.buala.org/pt/galeria/album-de-fotografias-da-guerra-colonial-angola

The MPLA was guided by a Marxist Leninist ideology where its main leader was

Agostinho Neto300. This movement began their armed struggle against Portugal in 1961

where several attacks occurred in prisons, polices stations other important civil and

military infrastructures301. Although, the MPLA claims the attacks made on 4 of

February there are disagreements on who really started these attacks302. It variates from

these attacks being influenced by the MPLA but some say that they did not had an

important role in these attack, stating that it was the act of various Angolans armed

groups that started these attacks and the MPLA simply claimed them303. Either way, the

MPLA as well as the other movements, wanted to be recognized as the ones who began

the attack against the Portuguese colonial forces304. Another important date that set of

this armed struggle against the Portuguese colonialism was the 15 of march, where it

resulted in a massacre of civilians in predominantly rural zones made by several

guerrillas. These attacks were claimed by the UPA (future FNLA) where in this

massacre were killed and mutilated white, black, mixed people regardless of being men,

women or even children. Like the February episodes, the March events are interpreted,

not for what they meant in themselves and for what they politically intended to achieve

in the immediate future, but as the first step of a strategy that wanted to provoke an

insurgency war against the Portuguese colonial state305. In any case, the guerrilla actions

launched on the 15th of March not only took place in a completely different

environment from that in which the “4th of February” took place, but the protagonists,

from a political, ideological, social, cultural, and ethnic point of view, were entirely

different from those who, allegedly, would have thought and executed the episodes of

urban violence that occurred in Luanda306
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These two moments were considered to be the founders of the colonial war. But in this

case the line between facts and propaganda is very thin307. The “4th of February” and

the “15th of March” would have been politically rational and ethically legitimate events

because they had been preceded by political proposals addressed to the Portuguese

government and in which the immediate opening of negotiations was demanded, with

the in order to prepare the transfer of power from the colonial State to the nationalist

movements that called themselves the only legitimate representatives of the peoples

who lived under Portuguese tutelage in Africa and the Indian Subcontinent308. The

absence of a response, or the failure to obtain the desired response, from the Portuguese

state legitimized the events of February and March 1961, as it legitimized statements

made justifying the use of violence to put an end to Portuguese colonialism309.

In fact, it was the events of February and March that pushed the MPLA and UPA into

armed struggle and not these two movements which, in a planned way, intended for a

lasting armed insurgency to start immediately after or because of those events310. In

other words, given that the successes of February and March, although mainly the first

ones, were conceived and implemented without the consent of the leadership of the two

main Angolan nationalist movements, MPLA and UPA, it is obvious that they were not

part of a strategy to initiate the systematic armed struggle against Portuguese

sovereignty in Angola311. In February as in March 1961, MPLA and UPA were far from

being prepared to wage an insurgency war against the Portuguese colonial state, ending

up being forced into it as a result of episodes colonial violence whose conception,

outbreak and development eluded them wholly or partially312.

The leaderships of those two movements realized that they could and should take

advantage of events that, firstly, had achieved great and very favorable international

repercussions, and, secondly, generated a response in which, above all, the

disproportionate amount of violence, whether on the part of the settlers or the police and

military forces313. The violence of the colonial response, even if used with the argument
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of self-defense, did not allow for a proclamation, even an implicit one, about the end of

the armed struggle314 .

Also what happened in February and March transcended also the Angolan reality, since

in april 1961 in the Conferência das Organizações Nacionalistas das Colónias

Portuguesas (CONCP) that took place in Casablanca it showed the intentions of

initiating the armed struggle against Portugal but also influenced and convince other

movements like PAIGC to choose the path that an starting an armed struggle against the

metropole would be the only way to achieve their independence315.

3.4.2 UNITA

The creation of UNITA is closely linked to Jonas Malheiro Sidónio Savimbi, founder

and first president of the party. In early 1966, Savimbi founded UNITA in Moxico,

province of Angola, with offices in Lusaka316. It operated mainly in the plateau and

southern regions, alongside the Ovimbundu12 ethnic group, which was the most

populous in Angola at the time317. UNITA emerges with much less ambitious goals

compared to the other two parties that were already engaged in the colonial struggle318.

In addition to independence, it sought to attract the largest number of people to join the

party as militants319. To achieve this objective, it was necessary to compete with the

other groups that had already started this fight long before320. Although the number of

its cadres was always very small, UNITA managed to gain some audience abroad,

especially in China and Egypt321. Therefore, UNITA initially faced several difficulties,

including opposition from both the MLPA and the GRAE, either of which had better

structures and better groups322. Thus, a new nationalist movement emerged in the

struggle, although inferior to the others. The policy adopted by Savimbi put UNITA on
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the same footing as the movements that, after 1975, engaged in war with a group

capable of standing up to the MPLA323.

Another important organization that had a significant role in the decolonization of

Africa was the United Nations. As previously discussed, Portugal until 1974 faced a lot

of backlash from the united nations. In January of 1957 when the UN revised the article

73 of the un charter they concluded that Portugal had in fact colonies324. This

conclusion was reached due to citizenship for the population of the colonies that were

classified as indigenous325. The relationship between Portugal and the un would

gradually aggravate, in 1960 where the un rejected any political or juridic architecture

that would hide the non-complying with the article 73326. Thus, they stopped

recognizing the Portuguese “provincias ultramarinas” and demanded that Portugal

conceded the independence to its colonies327.

In the years of the cold war until the 90s the Portuguese colonies, Portugal itself and

both the USA and the URSS would all be involved in this web that had various

dimensions and goals. Amid the cold war, both the USSR and the USA wanted to have

and attract as many supports they could to their ideology sphere. Thus, in this time

when the second wave of decolonization began they saw an opportunity to try to

influence these newly independent countries, help the ones fighting for their liberation

but also to avoid that these countries would fall in the sphere of their “opponent”.

Therefore amid this decolonization wave they saw Africa as perfect stage to work on

their pretensions. This would generate tensions mainly between Portugal and the us due

to their support to the Portuguese colonies, but also due to the Azores bases.

The MPLA was guided by a Marxist Leninist ideology where its main leader was

Agostinho Neto and defined itself a popular movement that fought for the independence

of Angola regardless of the origin and social class328. This movement was the more

organized and better structured of the movements in Angola, having the support of the

Soviet Union and Cuba, the movement also had a formation school for its members.
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Besides this they would also put work in the relations of the leaders and movements

from other Portuguese colonies such as Eduardo Mondlane and Amilcar Cabral329.

3.4.3 FNLA

The second front that formed itself in the Northeast and East districts was the Frente

Nacional pela Libertaçao de Angola (FNLA), that came up in 1954 through the fusion

of the Uniao das Populaçoes de Angola (UPA) and the Partido Democratico Angolano

(PDA)330     . The UPA was a cultural movement of defense and of mutual help for the

Congolese exiled in Angola331.which was led by Holden Roberto that at the time was

exiled in Zaire and also this movement worked and organized itself in the exile332. From

this union then the FNLA rises and organizes itself in two fronts333. The first one with

the formation of the Governo Revolucionario de Angola in the exile (GRAE), presided

over also by Holden Roberto, Jonas Savimbi as minister of foreign relations334. And the

second with the formation of the Exercito de Libertaçao Nacional de Angola (ELNA)

supported by the government of the then Congo Republic 335. The FNLA had a racial

flag and was openly against white, Portuguese and communists336. When comparing to

the MPLA they had little military training and its structure was also not as organized as

MPLA337.

Also, the case of FNLA is complicated due to the positions the movement took through

its existence338. Even though the FNLA had this characteristic of a “racial war” the idea

of uniting Africa against the colonizer thrived in the organization339
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For the UPA/FNLA , in a first moment, they would require the elimination of

demographic elements that were then considered the white presence in Africa, this was

seen as “strange” since it did not corresponded to the original African “essence”340..

Thus hence the massacre of the white, mixed and even negros assimilados 341on the

attacks by UPA in 1961. Also the UPA/FNLA had this political aversion towards the

MPLA since they considered it the party of the mestiços, sons of the colonos de

Luanda342.

Until 1963 Salazar regime was able to repress all the liberation movements, however

1964 marked a turn in the liberation war with the weakening of Portugal and the

strengthening of Angola in multiple fields343. The MPLA tried to emancipate the

country and aligned it with Comintern344. The first step taken by the MPLA was to

establish relations with other parties/movements of other Portuguese colonies in Africa

that also shared the same Marxist ideology345. Therefore from 1964 the revolutionary

groups had a better allies whilst Portugal was losing his historical allies346. Therefore,

this marks this turn.

The Portuguese communist party and some supporters of Humberto Delgado asked for

the Portuguese armed forces to not enter combat347. The PCP even edited a clandestine

journal where it asked for the auto determination of the colonies and establishment of

peace. Since the early days of the Estado Novo the PCP always supported the colonies

but only now in the 60´s with this weakening of Portugal is that they found space to

help348. Also, another supporter from the metropole was the catholic church. Even

though at first the catholic church was the base of support of the Estado Novo in the

1930 decade because they related obviously to the catholic values Salazar would also
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preach about349. However, this support changed amid the Vatican council ll (1962-1965)

that had more critics to the colonialist regimes350.

On a opposite side most of the press was in favor of the Portuguese colonialism. Since

the journals were controlled by the regime, they addressed the situation in Angola as

subversive conflicts and product of the “international terrorism”351. Portugal tries to

avoid that the world would find out what was happening in Angola therefore they

controlled what to put in the press and if any journal or mean of communication tried to

speak badly about the regime it would be simply censored352.

Besides this, the armed struggle in Angola also found difficulties besides the repression

and surveillance apparatus, the PIDE would also contribute to the deepening of the

conflicts between the movements353. The PIDE was aware of the ideological conflicts

between the movements and many times they used this in their favor354. In an

announcement addressed to the Angolans confiscated by PIDE the MPLA would talk

about false” patriots” that were trying to deceive the Angolan population355.

The announcement also talked about how UPA would bring segregation between the

Angolans and the Portuguese and considered overall the UPA/FNLA racist356. In this

same announcement the MPLA mentioned that whoever wanted to participate in the

movement they could, regardless of racial or ethnic differences357. This was stated due

to fact that the UPA/FNLA believed that the armed struggle should be fought by

Africans and not supported by international agents, particularly the soviet socialism358.

On a edition of the boletim militante of the MPLA of 1964, militant journal of the

movement, they exposed again the tactics of the Portuguese regime that they wanted to
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perpetuate the domination and not concede the independence to the its colonies359.

Whilst adding to this they alter or censor information para the delude the public

opinion360.

These boletins would serve on one hand to denounce the repressive practices of the

Portuguese regime in Africa and also to make the Africans aware to be against the

colonizers. During the colonial war the movements also turned to OUA to increase their

support with the colonial struggle361.

3.5 Organização da Unidade Africana (OUA)

The OUA was born in 1963 in the Adis Adeba conference as an organization capable of

promoting the unification solidarity between the African states362. As well as defense of

the sovereignty, territorial integrity, and elimination of all forms of colonialism in

Africa363. The OUA therefore functioned as a voice for the liberation movements,

important societal and political African figures to debate and focus to have an Africa

free of colonialism364. The OUA also played a crucial role in the history of

decolonization of Africa, as they worked as a pressure group of the international

community but also for providing direct support to the liberation movements365.

In the beginning the UPA/FNLA was the representative of Angola in this

organization366. However, with the rising of the Marxist-Leninist support in Africa, the

MPLA criticized the fact that only one movement was represented and supported by the

OUA367. Therefore, with the help of the PAIGC, the movement was able to enter and

from then had a bigger representativity in the organization368. While already in the
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OUA, MPLA claimed that in case of a possible leaving of the colonizer they would be

the ones entitled to have the legitimate govern of Angola369.

3.6 The war against Portuguese colonialism

During the liberation war the destiny of many Portuguese and Angolans was death370. If

the Angolans were not killed by the Portuguese then they would die over ethnic and

ideologic conflicts371. Also, a particularity of this war was that the resistance would

happen in the woods and places near the frontier372. Firstly because it was easier to

receive the equipment and secondary because the repression “machine” of the

Portuguese regime was not big is this area 373. Also, a lot of Portuguese and Angolans

that supported the decolonization however did not wanted to fight, they would opt to

escape to neighboring countries so they would avoid death, torture or imprisonment374.

The war would only end after the fall of the Portuguese dictatorship on the 25 of April

of 1974 by the coup lead by the MFA. It was due to what happened in the metropole

that the liberation war would finally come an end. After the fall of the Estado Novo

regime, Angola was waiting to know, as well as the people in the metropole, what would

happen in the colonies. Both the (most) of the Portuguese population as well as the

Angolans wanted the independence from Portugal, however it was up to the movement

of the armed forces MFA to decide how to proceed. The problem was the MFA

obviously men that had no previous political experience found themselves in a hard

position to come up with a solid plan for the decolonization. Plus, the political conflicts

characterized by ideological divisions between key actors of the MFA and the

provisional government would make the situation worse. Even though Portugal was no

longer under a dictatorship, in the period after the coup until 1976 Portugal experience a

significant political instability with multiple provisory governments until 1976. The two

significant divergences after the coup in the middle of the MFA was that on one hand
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the majority wanted to grant the immediate independence to the colonies, and on

opposite side Spínola wanted to create a federalist solution of Lusophone states under

Portugal supervision. Spínola was a key actor in the revolution and in the period after

the revolution and he did believe in the auto determination of the colonies however in

his point of view this would have to be conjugated with the Portuguese supervision.

Spinola´s view sparkled a big disagreement in the heart of the MFA, that these men,

also like Spinola, had fought in this colonial wars, simply just wanted to distance

themselves and have disengage from any colonial activity.

3.7 The independence

Therefore, with the end of the Estado Novo, the Portuguese government claimed the

right of the independence of Angola and initiated the negotiations that lead to the Alvor

Accords in January 1975, with the MPLA, UNITA and FNLA 375

3.7.1 The independence process

In the Acordo de Alvor was established a transition government for Portugal and the

three movements376. This government should remain in power until the official

proclamation of independence that was established for 11 of November of 1975,

however this was a failure due to the conflicts caused by the dispute of power377.

The framework for Angola’s decolonization was contained in General Spínola’s

program unveiled in August 1974 that included: a) recognition of the three major

liberation movements; b) establishment of a two-year provisional coalition government

representing the three liberation movements and the white Angolan community; c)

preparation by the provisional government for elections for a Constituent Assembly

whose task would be to prepare a constitution for Angola; and d) a commitment by the
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provisional government to invite the United Nations to monitor the elections378. In

addition, the provisional government would take all the necessary steps to “safeguard

the life and property of the residents of Angola, whatever their color or creed, in

accordance with the program of the Movement of the Armed Forces.” Before the

establishment of the provisional government, Admiral Coutinho asked all the three

liberations movements to enter into a permanent ceasefire with the junta379

The inclusion of "white Angolans" in the government, according to the nationalist

movements, would undermine the country's aspirations for independence and result in

"chaos and secession380." When the MFA's left wing overthrew General Spínola in

September 1974 and right-wing Angolan whites attempted an unsuccessful coup against

the junta in August, the chances for an interim government further faded381. These

incidents occurred at the same time as the FNLA launched more military raids and

attacks in northern Angola, ending the possibility of a multiracial government 382.

Despite this, the junta made plans to hold a bilateral ceasefire negotiation with the three

liberation movements in hopes this would calm the tensions between them383. An

agreement was reached between the UNITA and the Angolan administration in

September 1974384. However, Savimbi ended up signing a secret ceasefire agreement

with the Portuguese to confine itself to the areas under its control385. Savimbi opted to

do this, to reassure the integrity of UNITA since it lacked significant external support

In October 21st of 1974, the MPLA signed its ceasefire agreement with the junta in an

effort to balance the FNLA's rising political legitimacy after resolving its leadership

crisis. The agreement contained a provision acknowledging the MPLA armed forces

right to unrestricted movement throughout Angola, even though it resembled those of

the FNLA and UNITA. This supported the idea that the MPLA had gotten special
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treatment from Portuguese negotiators due to its left-leaning views. Admiral Coutinho

also made choices throughout the conflict that tipped Angola's domestic power balance

in favor of the MPLA on orders from the MFA. In particular, he supported the MPLA's

"popular power" urban mobilization strategy by allowing it to control Radio Luanda386.

3.7.2 The summit in Mombasa

The three movements were given legitimacy by the bilateral cease-fire agreements,

which allowed them to engage in political activity, rally support, and increase their

political influence. Although the agreements provided structure to a program of

decolonization that would have otherwise been incoherent, they did not provide an

answer to the issue of a shared political platform among the liberation movements387.

Furthermore, the already fractious nationalist atmosphere in Angola appeared to gain a

potentially unstable component from the junta's sympathies for the MPLA388. Despite

these obstacles, the OAU and the junta encouraged the nationalist movements to step up

their efforts to create a unified front prior to independence389. As a result, the three

movements reached several bilateral agreements, which culminated in multilateral

negotiations in Mombasa, Kenya390. A dead-lock was developed between the three

movements as a result of this agreement because none of them agreed with the

proposals for the distribution of ministerial portfolios in the future Government of

Transition391. However, there were some areas of agreement, such as the convergence of

the Cabinda enclave in Angolan territory and the development of a shared negotiation

platform with the Portuguese Government with the aim of forming the transitional

Government that would establish the independence of Angola392. The three movements

prepared for the start of the independence and transitional government negotiations with

Portugal, which would take place on the 10th of January in Portugal and in which the
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three movements should be represented, by beginning to establish cooperative

relationships in the fields of decolonization, defense, territorial integrity, and national

reconstruction393.

3.7.3 The Alvor Accord

“The accord, comprising sixty articles, had three key ingredients. First, they

acknowledged the FNLA, MPLA, and UNITA as the sole representatives of the Angolan

people. Second, they provided a legal and administrative framework for Angola’s

independence in 11th of November, 1975. Third, they established procedures by which

this independence would be decided394”

The accord envisaged that the transitional government would prepare electoral laws that

would elect a constituent assembly made up of the three movements within nine months

after its inception395. The constituent assembly would then elect the first president of an

independent Angola396

Regarding the ceasefire, the agreements established a general ceasefire that formalized

the earlier bilateral agreements and required the three armies to "settle in their rightful

regions and localities397." A National Defense Commission was established to oversee

the gradual integration of 24,000 Portuguese and 8,000 soldiers from each of the

liberation movements into a combined military force398. Between October 1975 and

February 1976, the 24,000 Portuguese troops would be gradually withdrawn once a

combined army made up of the three movements had been assembled399. The

nationalists requested Portugal to keep troops in Angola for three months after

independence out of concern that their rivalries might flare up again400
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The Alvor Accords, which served as a constitution, were a reflection of the limitations

of the hurried and disorganized decolonization process that Lisbon had started in April

1974401. It was fabricated out of convenience and built on the principles of good faith

between parties who had previously harbored mistrust for one another402. The accords

promised parity between the parties at all levels of the transitional institutions in order

to avoid this contentious history, but this parity resulted in a stalemate in the

administration of affairs403. The accords marginalized important voices in Angola that

would have provided the necessary political balance among the liberation movements

by granting exclusive legitimacy to the three movements as the "only true

representatives of the Angolan people404." Alvor was a transitional constitution, in

contrast to other independence constitutions405. After forging the common platform in

Mombasa, the movements had engaged in tactical maneuvers with one simple objective:

taking overpower unilaterally in November 1975406. In the Acordo de Alvor it was

established a transition government for Portugal and the three movements407. This

government should remain in power until the official proclamation of independence that

was established for 11 of November of 1975, however this was a failure due to the

conflicts caused by the dispute of power408. Even though these movements had

previously shown in the independence war that they significant differences and disputes

there were big hopes that finally with the independence Angola could finally

experience. However, this was not the case. Just briefly after the Angolan independence

the three movements would begin a civil war that would last until 2002. These

movements had significant ethnic and social differences, ideological differences as well

as by the lack of effort from Portugal to set bases for a string political consensus409.

The provisional government, established by Portugal, was not able to unify Angola, not

only because of the foreign influence rooted in the movement’s independence, but
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mainly because of the economic and power interests of these groups410. During the

transition, the intensification of disputes led to calls for more support to consolidate the

leadership position over the other political opponents, which intensified the external

intervention, intensifying the conflict, which plunged Angola into a civil war411. For all

these reasons, the conflict has become more and more internationalized and external

actors began to strengthen their interference, at the request of nationalist movements412.

As the intervention of the powers increased, the need to achieve their own strategic

objectives grew, escalating the crisis in the region, because of its policies establishment

of areas of influence413.

Thus, one can point out the most relevant historical factors of the process of

independence and formation of national liberation movements: the different groups of

different social, ethnic and ideological origins fought in a sparse way, mainly for cause

of difference in supporters in the context of a bipolar world414. the violent disputes

marked the independence process by the Salazar regime's insistence on maintaining its

colonies facing the world stage, after the end of World War II; with the abrupt rupture of

power in Portugal and consequent change of posture in relation to its colonies, Angola

was freed from the chains of imperialism, but totally divided internally 415.the small

efforts of division of power, did not lead the State to a sustainable peace process; and

external influences, increasingly in conflict over control of the Angolan territory, took

root in the national liberation movements and financed its continuation, giving military

power to the leaders of these groups416.

Amid the cold war, various actors but particularly, the USA and the USSR had a

significant role that would impact the Angolan civil war. With the involvement of these

actors some shared values with the liberation movements that would influence their
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support. The MPLA had the support of the USSR and Cuba417. The FNLA was able to

have the support of the USA, south Africa and Zaire418. Lastly, UNITA received support

from south Africa and the USA419.

Even though it was due to the disagreement of the movements that the civil war started,

the support the foreign countries were giving to the these 3 movements contributed for a

longer and bloodier war. While fighting for the independence of Angola these

movements had very precarious equipment and lacked an organization. However, when

the civil war began these small groups suddenly would operate tanks and bulletproof

cars.

3.8 The civil war and the US intervention

For Salazar, the recent president of the United States, John F. Kennedy, sympathizing

with Third World independence movements represented a true betrayal of anti-

communist ideals, particularly in relation to Portugal420. When it became clear that the

US president was going to develop a policy opposing the one that the Estado Novo had

determined, diplomatic disagreements between the Portuguese capital and the American

capital began to take shape421. However, the President of the Council of Ministers

attempted to balance Washington's position by negotiating authorization for the

American power to use the Lajes air base422.

It is worth noting that the United States provided significant assistance to UNITA and

formed an alliance with South Africa423. This help was a way of combating Soviet

aspirations in the region and protecting the Us interests in the country, such as oil

exploration424. It was thus in America's best interests to influence and participate in the
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Angolan civil war, thereby discouraging any Soviet leadership in the region425. That

active rivalry in the international system was brought to Angola, increasing tensions

between liberation movements, and intensifying the ideological conflict426. After

leaving the national sphere, the Angolan conflict became international as a result of

external interventions, primarily from major power427

The US was not only interested in undermining the possibility of a communist

government in the country, but also in broadening its sphere of influence, exploitation of

Angola's resources, and increasingly opening the way for its interests in the region428.

As a result, the intensity of the fight increased, and rival groups' threats became

constant429. With the war scenario fully embedded in the bipolar dispute, UNITA, South

Africa, and, indirectly, the United States, threatened the MPLA, resulting in a large

transfer of Soviet armaments to Angola in the second half of 1980430. Meanwhile, Cuba

maintained its army, which numbered around 50,000 men. South Africa's involvement

alongside UNITA should also be highlighted, since the African country of the Apartheid

regime has become a great American ally 431

Moscow reinforced its support for the MPLA and as a result, the US increased financial

support and requested the intervention by South Africa and Zaire432. A lot of equipment

sent by the Americans arrived at the FNLA and UNITA, through the border of Zaire433.

The former USSR, therefore, requested the Cuban intervention in Angola434 . The

Operation IA Feature was established, in which the US supported, through this

intelligence agency, UNITA and the FNLA435. However, if by on the one hand, the

program was not strong enough to be effective, on the other hand, also not enough to

remain secret436. Despite Zaire already demonstrating the decision to support the FNLA
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since 1973, the intervention only officially began in 1975, after a request made by the

USA437. from July 1975, Zaire provided the FNLA with several battalions of infantry

and commandos, as well as armored and artillery units of the Zairean army438. In

parallel, there was an advance of armored units of the Zairean army which joined the

FNLA and UNITA439. However, all this intervention failed to secure military victory.

Despite being part of the US strategy, South Africa also had own interests, among them,

the concern with the stability of the southern African portion and the possibility of the

rise of a regime in Angola that would support the South-West Africa People ´s

Organization (SWAPO)440.During the transitional government, the escalation of the

conflict began441. entry into definitive US supporter of the FNLA and UNITA generated

the Soviet response of intensifying support for the MPLA442. As a result, both parties

intensified the assistance, with ever-increasing financing and supply of material,

culminating with the attraction of other States to the conflict, through military actions in

territory Angolan443

Because it could not obtain internal consensus, the South African government initially

adopted a cautious stance, relying solely on military and financial support. However,

South Africa increased its support for the MPLA through Operation Savannah in

October 1975, with the entry of 2,500 soldiers and 600 vehicles444. This triggered its

direct intervention in Angola, with the goal of capturing Luanda from the south and

ensuring control of the territory445.

The Zairean government, as well as the South African leadership, were adamant about

establishing a unified regime in Luanda. However, in 1978, Zaire signed a non-

aggression pact with the MPLA, effectively ending the FNLA's involvement in the
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conflict446. Under US and Cuban pressure, such an agreement was reached, granting

UNITA full US support447. Throughout the civil war, UNITA began to explore diamonds

in its regions as a means of financing itself, in addition to the external support448.

In 1979 the leader of MPLA, Agostinho Neto dies. To take over his role then José

Eduardo dos santos is chosen449. In the following year it seemed that UNITA was about

to be defeated by the MPLA, however South Africa came to their aim450. Therefore in

1981 the operation Protea is launched in 1981 by south Africa doing a significant attack

to Angola, allowing the spread of guerrilla units of UNITA451. With this context the US

wanted to negotiate the withdrawal from Cuba in exchange for the independence of

Namibia, however only Pretoria accepted this. Thus, south Africa kept their occupation

until 1985452.

In 1981, the South African army invaded the Angolan provinces of Cunene and Cuando

Cubango, carrying heavy artillery and sophisticated armaments453. The South African

army was confronted by an unprepared FAPLA that was unable to fight the level of the

SADF army and an invasion of approximately eleven thousand men454. Another major

South African invasion occurred in Angola in 1983, in the province of Skunk455. The

Apartheid army caused widespread devastation with its powerful air force, handing

victory to UNITA, which later declared that the province had been destroyed456. After

this scenario of war and destruction in the country, in 1984, the South Africa signed a

peace agreement with Angola457. However, some scholars say that this agreement

disguised the real intentions of South Africans in territory Angola, as they wanted a

greater supply of weapons and financial support458. The following year, FAPLA forces
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began a race against the government South African459. The Apartheid army interfered in

the fight against the Angolans, but the SADF was unable to withstand attacks by the

United Democratic Front (United Democratic Front - UDF) and asked for support from

the US, which supplied missiles to UNITA460.

In this time Ronald Reagan (1981-89) received Savimbi at the white house and gave

financial support his movement461. In the second mandate of Ronald Reagan, and with

the support of also Margaret Thatcher provided SADF and UNITA,462. It is noteworthy

that many groups that fought for freedom were considered terrorists, especially if they

did not act alongside the Americans463. While Savimbi was seen with a “good eyes” as a

fighting for freedom in Angola, Nelson Mandela, who stood against the Apartheid

regime, was identified as a terrorist by the US and South Africa464. With that, with the

speech to combat terrorism, the US has reactivated its military base in, Zaire, to build a

northern front in the war against Angola, and through UNITA, the CIA aided South

Africa465. With this support coming from the US, South Africans felt more encouraged

to prolong the war, despite a occurring a political shift in South Africa466. South already

seems very close, due to the formation of the Congress of Unions of South African

Trade Unions COSATU and the performance of the UDF, causing the government to

face challenges in its policy: “The evolution of popular democratic struggles in South

Africa has made the country become ungovernable and apartheid unworkable”467. From

that time on, therefore, the apartheid regime was already coming to an end and South

Africa was close to being defeated in Angola468. In the late 1980s, the SADF launched

“Operation Modular” to dominate the province of Menongue, in Angola, with the aim of

forming a government UNITA interim and increase Western support469. For this

459 Ibid
460 Ibid
461 Persici, R. (2010). GUERRA E PAZ EM ANGOLA: Um Estudo sobre o Papel da ONU e das Grandes
Potências. p.78
462 Ibid
463 Ibid
464 Ibid
465 Ibid
466 Ibid
467 Ibid
468 Persici, R. (2010). GUERRA E PAZ EM ANGOLA: Um Estudo sobre o Papel da ONU e das Grandes
Potências. p.78
469 Ibid

73



operation, South Africa Sul invested in heavy weapons and roads were built so that

these were transported to the province470.”

Meanwhile the FAPLA launched an attack in the province of Jamba and the battle of

Lomba river was the preamble for the battle of Cuito Cuanavale471.In 1987 when SADF

initiated surrounding their frontiers they departed with a big resistance from the

Angolans472. . In the same year the force of FALPA also launched a big attack in the

Southeast of Angola against the UNITA forces, which made SADF realize of the

success the FALPA forces473. To counter this success of the FAPLA the SADF

intervened in the Southeast. Therefore, in the beginning of November the armed forces

of south Africa had already taken some Angolan units in Cuito Cuanavale and were

ready to destroy them474.

Cuba also showed its engagement in the battle of Cuito Cuanavale and sent planes,

soldiers and arms to fight the SADF forces475. Cuba had just an overall superiority in

the weapons, army and also air force476. This made it possible for the Cuban troops to

defeat the south Africans when dominating Cuito Cuanavale477. In the beginning of

1988 the south African forces were defeated by the Cuban forces478. The battle of Cuito

Cuanavale ended after SADF accepted their retrieval from Namibia and surrender. After

this Namibia had their independence in 1990 and Nelson Mandela was released479.

Therefore, south Africa executed 3 operations in Angola without success, these being:

operation Modular, Hooper operation and Packer operation480.

In the decade of 1980, it appeared the first signs of a possible resolution of the Angolan

conflict481. With Angola, Cuba and south Africa signing the New York accords in 1988.
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In these accords Cuba promised to retrieve their troops from the country under the

condition that south Africa would also take its army from the south of Angola482. The

implementation of this accords was monitored by Angola by a mission of the UN, the

UNAVEM I483. this mission was finalized in 1991 with the retrieval from the Cuban

troops and the independence of Namibia484. Also, during this period significant changes

in the international system were occurring with the end of the soviet bloc, which lead

the civil war in Angola to take different paths485.

Since the involvement of the USSR and the US contributed to deepen the animosities

between the MPLA and Unita, and also, we can say the conflict escalated way more

with the assistance of these actors, also others, in the civil war. It was expected that

would the end of the cold war the civil war in Angola could also come to end. However,

it did not turn in this way.

3.9 USSR and Angola

Foreign policy in the former Soviet Union was aimed at ensuring an international

environment favorable to communist ideology, protecting its national interests, and

consolidating socialism on a global scale486. This policy was aimed at defending its

territory and Eastern Europe, as well as spreading this mode of production around the

world and limiting Western states' access to essential raw materials487. Thus, in relation

to African nationalist movements, Soviet foreign policy took the form of aid to peoples

in their struggle for independence and was guided by national interests, particularly

economic and geostrategic ones488. In Angola its geographic position would allow the

establishment of lines of communication with the interior Africa's interior, so as to

enable the former USSR to control the outflow of raw materials from the continent489.

In late 1974, the Soviet Union escalated its intervention in Angola by sending the
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MPLA across the border into the territory of the People's Republic of Congo. However,

the Congolese government backed down and rejected the proposal in July 1975. In the

end, Moscow requested Cuba's intervention to serve as its intermediary. Fidel Castro

expressed his support for the movement in August of that year490. Following this, a

protocol was signed between the Soviets and Cubans to continue economic assistance to

Havana, which was most likely related to funding for such an intervention491.

Thus, it is evident that the Soviet intention was to cover up the tracks of its interference

in Angola in order to limit the risks of a direct confrontation with the United States492.

Besides, a failure in the action would be assumed by Cuba, sparing the former USSR

from a possible humiliation possible humiliation by the defeat493

The MPLA was able to raise the new Angolan flag in Luanda on September 11, 1975,

thanks to Soviet weaponry and Cuban support494. The only results obtained by the US in

this manner were the intensification of the former USSR's intervention and Cuba's entry

into the dispute. Following independence, national liberation movements in Angola

began to amass the fighting power required to turn the conflict into a civil war495.

Cuba's support was critical to the MPLA's ability to maintain control of the capital, but

it was insufficient to bring the conflict to an end496. expansionist policy of spreading

communism, acted in Another former USSR, through its expansionist since its

decolonization process, supporting the MPLA in the struggle against the colonizers,

while the US remained more distant497. However, the US entry into the conflict forced

the Soviets to intensify their Cuba's entry into the dispute and the establishment of the

MPLA in Luanda498. With the end of the bipolar rivalry, this fight continued as well as

the support to UNITA. With the US also using means of external policy to weaken the

MPLA and its ideology in the region.

490 Nunes, F. J. M. (2020). A guerra civil angolana no contexto da Guerra Fria: da Independência à Guerra
por Procuração. Escola de Guerra Naval (EGN). p.33
491 Ibid
492 Ibid
493 Ibid
494 Nunes, F. J. M. (2020). A guerra civil angolana no contexto da Guerra Fria: da Independência à Guerra
por Procuração. Escola de Guerra Naval (EGN). p.34
495 Ibid
496 Ibid
497 Ibid
498 Ibid

76



The US had no interest in Angolan troop movements because they were directly

involved in the Vietnam War, which was politically, economically, socially, and in terms

of lives lost, added to the cases of political scandals499. However, knowing that the

former USSR was supporting one side of the conflict, Washington decided to launch an

indirect intervention to support the other movement500. Similarly, the Soviets did not

want to provide direct support to the MPLA because it would make it difficult for them

to maintain their détente policy with the US and could have negative consequences

among their African allies501.

Furthermore, although the intervention was indirect, these interventions were carried out

to maximize interests502. According to some scholars the USSR attempted to conceal its

involvement in the dispute503. By using Cuba the Soviet Union used legal and formal

mechanisms to hide its indirect action, while also contributing to the Soviets' goals and

objectives in the confrontation504.

It should be noted that, in the Angolan Civil War, the opposing forces did not have

sufficient combat power to prolong the conflict in the way they were able to do, without

taking in account the financial, material, and military support from the other actors

involved505. As a result, since their inception, national liberation movements have

placed a high value on the search for foreign support to sustain hostilities506. As

discussed in previous sections, South Africa and Zaire, despite having their own

interests in the conflict, resorted to direct intervention by the United States, which used

these states as proxy forces507. Cuba, on the other hand, appears to have initiated

military action to cover up Soviet action in Angola, despite having no clear interest in

the country508. Thus, it is concluded that direct interventions in the Angolan Civil War
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during the Cold War period acted as proxy forces for global powers' strategic

objectives509.

The United States and the former USSR intervened indirectly in the Angolan conflict,

with the interest of manipulating its outcome, since both were external actors in the

context of the Angolan Civil War and provided arms, money and training to the

movements they supported. In addition, they sought to diminish risks and the risks and

achieve their strategic objectives without engaging in direct intervention510.

Angola was still experiencing the tensions between the MPLA and the UNITA

particularly amid the making of the democratic and free elections in 1992511. Unita

showed resistance to the signed agreements and also hostility towards UN which

considered to be a threat for the peace in Angola as well as the African continent 512.

Multiple appeals were made for the beginning of cease fire to UNITA after the 1992

elections513. However, UNITA showed indifference to this, and its army continued to

invade Angolan cities, Jonas Savimbi would threat the MPLA and would preach about

more violence514. Therefore, it was clear that with UNITA not compromising anything

and continuing with a violent hostility there were no prospects of the war coming an end

soon.

The civil war ended in 2002, with the assassination of UNITA's leader, leaving a large

part of the country destroyed, a high number of deaths, a high rate of diseases and

malnutrition, and a lack of a government institutional apparatus and organization,

because the country was completely prevented from projecting its industrialization,

economy, social projects, and institutions govern515. The number of internal and external

refugees also left the country with a shortage of qualified people to lead this
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development and the greater part of the population lived deprived of their natural rights,

such as the right to food, health, housing and other essentials for their survival516

3.10 The 1992 elections

For the first time, Angolans were asked to vote separately for the president of the

republic and parliamentary members in 1992517. This was the starting point for the

subsequent electoral crisis. While the MPLA gained a majority in parliament, incumbent

MPLA presidential candidate José Eduardo dos Santos was defeated in the first round

by Jonas Savimbi. A second round was planned for a few weeks later, but it never

happened518. Savimbi had already left Luanda, reassembled his troops, which had never

been fully demobilized, and began to take over cities and small towns519. The post-

election crisis not only killed thousands of Angolans, but also plunged the country into

ten years of civil war520.

The first attempt to solve the conflict happened almost in the end of the cold war. A

negotiation that involved the main parties in the dispute: Angola, Cuba, Africa of the

South and Namibia with the observation of the USA and the USSR, whose results

originated the proposal of resolution of the conflict, expressed in the New York

Accords, signed at United Nations 521.Headquarters between Angola, Cuba and South

Africa on December 22, 1988, and bilaterally between Angola and Cuba, which

provided for the simultaneous withdrawal of Cuban and South African troops from

Angola522. The UNAVEM I (United Nations Verification Mission in Angola) was born

from these Agreements, under the proposal of the Secretary-General of the UN to

oversee the withdrawal of Cubans523. UNAVEM I was the successful peacekeeping

mission, expressed in the speed with which the New York Accords were fulfilled524. On

May 31, 1991, after many months of negotiation between representatives of the
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Angolan government – MPLA and UNITA – under the mediation of the Troika of

observers, the Bicesse Accords are signed in Portugal, and the UN is invited to

supervise the Accords with the creation of UNAVEM II525.

3.11 The Bicesse agreements

The Acordos de Bicesse were signed in Estoril was signed by Eduardo dos santos and

Jonas Savimbi526.The Bicesse agreements had the goal to establish a ceasefire, the

unification of UNITA and government troops into a single army and the holding of

general elections. The UNITA and the FNLA also registered themselves as parties527.

However, even though both leaders from the rival parties signed this document it was

not enough to end the war.

After it was revealed that it was likely for Eduardo dos santos to win, by the national

electoral council, Jonas Savimbi unhappy with these results accused the MPLA of

having forged the results and other accusations528. Eduardo dos Santos had more votes

on the first round even though it was not enough to not have a 2 round and end up also

winning the second round529.

At the time it was speculate that, Eduardo dos santos won the first round, but to avoid

tensions and violent conflicts to happen they did the second round to avoid this,

although without success530

Eduardo dos Santos, a candidate for the (MPLA), won with 49.57% of the vote, while

Jonas Savimbi, a candidate for the (UNITA), received 40.7%531. According to that

result, the People's Movement for the Liberation of Angola (MPLA) won 54% of the

legislative seats, while (UNITA) received 34%, giving (MPLA) 129 seats in parliament

out of 223 seats, compared to 70 seats for (UNITA)532. The remaining seats were

distributed among the ten parties that ran in the elections, including the (FINLA) party
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led by Holden Roberto. Participation in the elections was 91% of the registered voters,

totaling 4.4 million voters533. According to Angolan law, the failure of the presidential

candidate to receive more than 50% of the vote necessitates a second round of elections,

but this did not occur due to Jonas Savimbi's withdrawal and rejection of election results

on 5 October, accusing the government of fraud and threatening to declare civil war and

withdraw (UNITA) forces from the joint armies534.

On the 6 of October Jonas Savimbi left the capital and went to the city of Huambo

known for having a big UNITA support535.

3.12 Acordo de Lusaka 1994

The Lusaka Protocol (Acordo de Lusaka) was a peace treaty negotiated in the capital of

Zambia, following the failure of the Bicesse Agreement, signed in Portugal in May 1991

by the Angolan government and UNITA, and which made it possible to hold general

elections in Angola536. The elections, held on September 29 and 30, 1992, were won by

the MPLA with 54 percent against 34 percent of the votes, while the then President of

the Republic, José Eduardo dos Santos, obtained 49.7 percent of the votes and Jonas

Savimbi 40.7 percent, with the need for a second round between the two537. However,

the then leader of UNITA refused to participate in the second round, and that same year

returned to war, after mobilizing his forces, which were supposed to be demobilized,

some elements composing the Single Army - Forças Armadas Angolanas (FAA) -

together with personnel from the government forces - and others integrated into the

National Police538. With the war spreading bloodily across the national territory,

frustrating the population's hopes for peace, the belligerents began a rapprochement,

aided by the international community, primarily through mediation (UN) and the troika

of observers (the United States of America, Portugal, and Russia), with meetings in the
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Angolan province of Namibe, Addis Ababa (Ethiopia), and Abidjan (Côte d'Ivoire)539.

Among these meetings, which were mediated by Margaret Anstee, the first Special

Representative of the Secretary-General of the United Nations in Angola (she arrived in

the country in 1991), the one in Abidjan, in mid-1993, lasted the longest, 45 days, but

failed due to significant differences between the parties in conflict540. In October 1993,

in the heat of violent military confrontations and numerous deaths, UNITA agreed to

resume talks with the Government, and in November of the same year, in Lusaka, after

an exploratory meeting of about a week, negotiations began, under the mediation of the

new Special Representative of the UN Secretary-General, Alioune Blondin Beye, and

the observation of the United States of America, Portugal and Russia541.

The negotiations culminated in the signing of the Lusaka Protocol on November 20,

1994, in the Zambian capital542. Signatories of the document were the then Minister of

Foreign Affairs, Venâncio de Moura, and the former Secretary-General of UNITA,

Eugénio Ngolo Manuvakola543. The treaty, among other things, established a ceasefire,

the formation of a Government of Unity and National Reconciliation (GURN) with all

political forces with parliamentary seats based on the results of the 1992 elections, the

installation of UNITA deputies in the National Assembly, the demilitarization of this

organization, and the holding of the second round of presidential elections544. The

protocol only lasted about four years545. Systematic protocol violations fueled distrust

among the signatories, confirming fears that Jonas Savimbi's refusal to attend the

signing ceremony foreshadowed a dramatic end to the agreement546. In fact, Jonas

Savimbi's absence from the signing ceremony was a surprise, considering that his

presence was expected alongside the former Angolan President, José Eduardo dos

Santos, to confer greater reliability, credibility and, above all, political engagement at

the highest level547. The skepticism with which the signing of the Lusaka Protocol was

viewed, as a result of the contempt in which it was held by Jonas Savimbi, had its
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reasons revealed, when in 1998, after a fragile peace of four years, UNITA reignited the

war548. The intensification of the armed conflict forced the government forces to launch

a military offensive in December 1998, which culminated in the conquest of several

UNITA strongholds549.

3.13 Consequences of the civil war

The end of the military missions by the un in Angola lead for the civil war to continue

from 1992 to 2002 with the death of Jonas Savimbi. To begin with, Angola had very

weak foundations as a country. With the Portuguese colonialism the Angolans never had

a fair access to education, proper healthcare, education infrastructures, since it was

mostly the white population had this, and a very narrow percentage of the black

population that had access to this. In the liberation war, in the regions that were

controlled by the liberation movements provided a better access to this to the Angolan

population, however not enough to set good foundations for the country. Furthermore,

after the white Portuguese population left Angola after the 25 of April, they took with

them useful knowledge about commerce, destroyed the infrastructures they owned, so

this aggravated the situation even more. After the independence any hopes the Angolans

could finally “build their country” came crashing down with the beginning of the civil

war in 1975 that would last until 2002. The death of Jonas Savimbi would finally end

the war, the Angolan government did not declare a victory for the MPLA or the Angolan

government but took advantage of the circumstances to establish an agreement between

the belligerent parties, to mutual advantage, whether for the government, with the

pacification of the territory, whether for UNITA550. This measure was taken with

extreme care so it avoids the war to continue and thus definitive peace was finally

achieved551. Following these events, the government of Angola unilaterally declared a

ceasefire and initiated a series of contacts with UNITA leaders, which evolved into

effective peace negotiations, culminating in the signing of the Luena Memorandum of
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Understanding on April 4, 2002552. With the end of the Angolan civil war, UNITA

reunified (in moment of the crisis and under the effect of the sanctions imposed by the

UN after the Lusaka Accords, dissidence arose from many members who founded the

so-called UNITA-Renovada, recognized by the UN and the government of Angola) as a

political party and rehabilitated itself, participating in the political life of Angola553

The civil war in Angola not only substantial losses in terms of physical (equipment,

infrastructure, housing) and human capital, but also determine effects that combine with

each other in the sense of a reduction in the well-being of the majority of Angolans.

Most of these effects are directly related to poverty and the living conditions of the

population: compulsive displacement, insecurity, food insecurity, malnutrition, serious

difficulties in accessing health and education.

We can conclude that the civil war in Angola had two crucial reasons that lead to this

event. The European colonialism that with the Berlin treaty of 1878 divided the African

territory between the European powers, without considering ethnic and religious

characteristics554. In this way, peoples of the same ethnicity and religion saw themselves

separated and people’s rivals were placed side by side in the same territory, this being

one of the main reasons for civil wars and genocides in the African continent555. Lastly,

also a result of an unorganized Portuguese decolonization.
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Chapter 4

Mozambique

4.1 The Mueda massacre

Inspired by the other Portuguese colonies that started their armed struggle against the

metropole Angola 1961 and Guinea Bissau 1963 and for the massacre of Mueda that

occurred in 1960556. The Mueda massacre will be used in the future by FRELIMO in

speeches for their armed struggle557. This massacre marked a turning point for

Mozambique but also an inspiration. The Mueda massacre came to show how the

peaceful strategies did not work with the repressive colonial state of Portugal and

therefore the armed struggle would be the only solution558. Therefore, the only solution

would be the armed struggle.

Figure 3: 16th of June of 1960. Massacre de Mueda, Mozambique.

Source:https://www.esquerda.net/dossier/16-de-junho-de-1960-massacre-de-mueda-

mocambique/63607
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This massacre that took place in 16 of June of 1960 after a meeting was arranged

between the people of Mueda and the Portuguese administration to demand better life

conditions particularly for the peasants559. The reports about what really happened in

this day and the accurate number of dead people that resulted in are multiple560.

“I went to Mueda to watch talks between the colonial government and the Faustino

[Vanomba](…) On the 16th I arrived at Mueda. When I got there people were already

concentrated. There were men, women and some children. Many people were well

dressed. there were people of different races: Indians, whites and blacks. Moments later

the colonialists hoisted four flags. Mueda's Administrator asked the population to

participate in the hoisting of flags. But population refused to raise [the flag] saying that

they had gone there to listen to the words of Faustino [Vanomba] and Kibiriti [Divane].

(…) the governor ordered one of the priests to bless the group of Faustino while

intending to kill him! A soldier came out out and explained to the people that the

Kibiriti would be killed because made a mistake. Afterwards, the governor called them

individually there to inside. However, they were unable to kill him [the Kibiriti] and

then they called Faustino Vanomba and everything was repeated because he didn't he

died. The two of them left tied to the car and we took the car and we said "this car will

not move forward. They did this with the from the first group, from Modesta, but today

that won't happen”. At this moment that the population complained, starting to shoot

stones. So the governor ordered to open fire561.”

After this massacre Frelimo started to use the massacre of Mueda as a motivation and

reason for the revolt against the colonial metropole562. Frelimo justified the armed

struggle using this day as an example of the colonial repression that responded with

violence to the appeals of the Mozambicans563. FRELIMO when appealing to the armed
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struggle they would also stress in their speeches how important it was to have the

support of the people and for them to fight for the independence of their country564.

4.2 FRELIMO

The national movement that fought for the independence of Mozambique was

FRELIMO. FRELIMO initiated their armed struggle after the revolt that happened in

1961 in Angola against the Portuguese colonialism 565

The FRELIMO Party was formed on 25 June 1962 in the Tanganyikan capital Dar es

Salaam, following the earlier repression of political activity within Mozambique and the

beginning of revolt in the Portuguese colony of Angola in 1961566.Its membership was

drawn from a diverse range of existing organizations, primarily the Rhodesian-based

União Nacional Democratica de Mozambique (UDENAMO), the Tanganyika-based

Mozambique African National Union (MANU), and the União Africana de

Moçambique Independente (UNAMI), which had a safe haven in Malawi and was close

to the ruling Malawi Congress Party (MCP)567. By 1964, Frelimo's influence was still

challenged by a number of other organizations, each vying for official support from

communist powers and the resources that came with it. In June 1964, Lucas Fernandes

infiltrated 150 members of the MANU Youth League into Mozambique to plan military

operations in the hope of attracting Soviet sponsorship568. Ever since the first armed

attack against the Portuguese, Frelimo had to deal with the Portuguese but also had

significant internal struggles. Frelimo expelled some members of the party, with two of

them being Amós Sumane and Joseph Chitenie who after formed an organization named

MORECO 569. As Frelimo’s influence grew their rivals decided to unify the non-Frelimo

anti-colonial forces and thus, according to a letter sent to the Afro Asian Peoples’

Solidarity Organization (AAPSO), the groups UDENAMO-Moçambique, MANC
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(Mozambique African National Congress), UDENAMO-Monomotapa, UNAMI and

MANU merged in Lusaka, from 24-31 March 1965, to form the Comitè Revolucionário

de continuação- Moçambique (COREMO)570. COREMO’s leadership included

Gwambe as President, Gumane as Secretary-General, and Mahluza as Chief of

Defence571

COREMO did launch few minor military operations in tete province, however,

according to a CIA report, COREMO did not have enough capacity and means to

threaten Frelimo572. Meanwhile Frelimo was making military progress, having increased

guerrilla fighters which managed to continue their insurgency against the Portuguese

government. However, they were quite factionalized573.

Since 1965, a faction within Frelimo known as the Mozambique Revolutionary United

People's Party (MRUPP) led by Uria Simango and comprised Frelimo's Defence and

Security Chief Filipe Magaia and Lázaro N'Kavandame574. This faction was ethnically

Makonde, and they held differing political views on issues pertaining to the party's

military and political sections, as well as the type of economy that should be developed

in the liberated areas575. and "whether a class or race-based ideology would guide

Frelimo's program, and whether liberated Mozambique would retain traditional social

structures or create new social relations576. Samora Machel sought to "combine the

modern form of a non-racial, national state with non-capitalist economic development"

whereas the Makonde faction advocated for a "ethnically-based system of petty

bourgeois capitalism577."

However convinced that Frelimo was plotting something against them, a group of

Makonde guerrillas headed to the headquarters of Frelimo in Dar es Salaam with the

intention of killing the main leaders including the Frelimo president, Eduardo
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Mondlane. P81.This attempt that ended up not being successful took place on 9 may of

1968578. Frelimo was warned of this attack and most people in the headquarters escaped

unharmed579.

In July 1968, Frelimo held their second congress in Mozambique´s Niassa province

since it was a liberated zone580. It was in the liberated zones that the Mozambicans had

basic educational, social, administrative and health infrastructures 581. In detriment, the

areas that were still occupied by the Portuguese these basic things like education and

other important services and infrastructures were denied to Mozambicans or provided

with a very low quality582. Thus, since these liberated zones were able to provide this

they were “secure enough for this meeting of the entire Frelimo leadership, delegates

from all over Mozambique, and representatives from the African National Congress

(ANC), the Movimento Popular Libertacão de Angola (MPLA), and the Zimbabwe

African People’s Union (ZAPU)583.”

However, this decision of holding the second conference in Mozambique showed how

alive the factional struggles really were in Frelimo584. “N’Kavandame wanted [the

congress] to be held in Tanzania where he felt he had the strongest support for his bid

for the presidentship 585.The Makonde faction subsequently claimed that the holding of

the Congress in Niassa was a tactic to rob them of support586. Later on the vice president

Amós Sumane supported by Artur Vilankulu and others attempted to “oust” the

president Gumane, which was not successful. This also showed how COREMO also had

internal factionalism which would lead to the decline of COREMO 587. Consequently,

the discovery of this attempt lead to the expulsion of Sumane, and he ended up creating

the União Nacional Africana de Rumbezia (UNAR)588. UNAR claimed to be following

the footsteps of Mondlane, Gumane and Gwambe, while being opposed to both Frelimo
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and COREMO, and both western and communist imperialism. Based in Malawi, UNAR

brought together dissidents from Frelimo and COREMO589.

Based in Malawi, UNAR brought together dissidents from Frelimo and COREMO,

including former Frelimo representative in Lilongwe Calisto Trindade as UNAR

Information Secretary; former UDENAMO and then Frelimo member José Massamba

as the Secretary of the UNAR; and former COREMO militant Domingos Zacarias590.

However, it is very unlikely that UNAR had financial and ideological independence591.

While they operated in the Milange region near Mozambique’s border, their

headquarters was housed in the Malawi Congress Party building in Malawi’s capital,

Lilongwe. UNAR’s desire to create the state of Rumbezia closely paralleled Banda’s

own desire for a greater Malawi, and the group was obviously sponsored by the

Malawian government592. Jorge Jardim’s close links to Banda, including his

involvement in training the Malawi Young Pioneers, have led some to suggest he may

also have been one of UNAR’s sponsors593. Though UNAR never grew large enough to

have much influence in Mozambique, a reincarnation of the organization would arise in

the late 1970s and eventually unite with RENAMO in the early 1980s594.

Meanwhile, the Portuguese armed forces’ inability to combat Frelimo’s campaign led

them to drastic measures. In the north-east the Portuguese had attempted to stem

Frelimo’s influence by forcing up to a million people into fortified villages,

predominantly in the province of Cabo Delgado595. At the same time in the northwest

Portuguese forces targeted innocent villagers in a series of massacres596. The worst of

these incident occurred on 16 December 1972 at Wiriyamu, Chawola and Juwan, a

group of villages south of Tete597. On 15th December Chico Cachari, an African security

official, visited the villages asking about Frelimo activity598. When villagers denied
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knowledge of any activity, Portuguese forces returned the following day and killed the

inhabitants599.

After many years of fighting the war comes to an end in 1974. Not due to the

FRELIMOs resistance but due to the overthrow of the dictatorship that happened in the

metropole on the 25th of April of 1974. Since the MFA lead the overthrow and was

managing at the time the significant steps to take. The main focus of the MFA was to

proceed immediately was giving the independence to the African colonies and proceed

to an immediate decolonization.

The confusion coming from Lisbon reflected in Mozambique, which experienced

political instability and army desertions600. Thus, Portugal's new Junta de Salvação

Nacional began talks with Frelimo for Mozambican independence and the transfer of

power, while Frelimo used the threat of renewed warfare as a political bargaining

method601.

4.3 The independence

With the fall of the dictatorship in Portugal the Mozambicans were expecting the same

liberation for Mozambique, since now Portugal was free from the dictatorship they also

wanted Portugal to concede finally their independence602. However, in Mozambique

they were worries of the route Portugal was going to take603. Spínola was in power and

his view on the decolonization from previous statements he made in his controversial

book “Portugal e o Futuro” that he had a federalist proposal to deal with the

Portuguese colonies. his federalist view worried Mozambique604.

However, the disagreements in the metropole came in favor of Mozambique and they

finally had their independence.
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4.3.1 Acordo de Lusaka

The Lusaka accord was signed on the 7th of September of 1974 in Lusaka Between the

Portuguese state and the Frente de libertaçao de Moçambique (FRELIMO) 605.With the

Acordo de Lusaka the Portuguese state recognized formally the independence of

Mozambique as well as the right to auto determination of the Mozambican people Since

the Frelimo was the nationalist movement that fought for the liberation of Mozambique

the Portuguese state thought the transfer of sovereignty should be made to Frelimo606.

Furthermore it was established in these agreements that the complete Mozambican

independence would be proclaimed on 25th of June of 1975, date that also matched with

the anniversary of the foundation of Frelimo607. Due to its leadership in the struggle

against the Portuguese, FRELIMO had a significant advantage in politics608. This

benefit, coupled with the near absence of other political forces (those that did exist did

not stand in the way of FRELIMO's ambitions), and the vulnerability of the Portuguese

as a result of the events in the Metropolis, strengthened its positions609. Considering

this, the movement heads to the Lusaka talks in a strong position. Therefore, FRELIMO

regarded itself as the sole representative of the Mozambican people as a whole, despite

the fact that Lusaka made no explicit mention of the political system to be put in place

in the nation610. Removing with this any possibility of sharing power or any electoral

maneuver or referendum and paving the way for a one-party and monolithic regime611.

When Mozambique finally had their independence and the Portuguese abandoned the

authority they had on the country, Mozambique was left in a very precarious state. After

their independence the majority of the white Portuguese population abandoned the

country, which them being the majority of the instructed people with an education left a

gap in the country in this area. With the leaving of the majority white Portuguese

population because they had the fear now with their independence being the black

Mozambicans running the country, stores of commerce) disappeared in Mozambique

605 MacQueen, N. (1997). The Decolonization of Portuguese Africa. p.147
606 Ibid
607 Peralta, E. (2019, June 1). A integração dos “retornados” na sociedade portuguesa: identidade,
desidentificação e ocultação. Análise Social; Instituto de Ciências Sociais da Universidade de Lisboa.
p.315
608 Shikhani, R. (n.d.). Uma Interpretação das Origens da Guerra Civil. p.22
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since it was the Portuguese population that managed them. This caused severe

difficulties for trade in Mozambique since these little stores were very important for the

agriculture trade and commercialization. There were no infrastructures, factories were

destroyed by the Portuguese who abandoned the country and the educational level of

Mozambicans was very low due to the Portuguese “colonos” not allowing for the

Mozambicans to have a proper education. The heritage left by the colonization was too

big and influential to be erased by the independence, but still, the Mozambicans were

happy that finally they could build and govern their own country. Adding to this, the

Portuguese authorities trusted the Frelimo to take over the country post-independence

they did not take in account the racial differences and ideologies that existed in

Mozambique.

4.4 The civil war

Four stages of the civil war can be distinguished. In the first, RENAMO was

established, maintained, and headquartered in Rhodesia (currently Zimbabwe),

gradually beginning to act militarily in Mozambique territory, and eventually becoming

based in the nation at a time when the conflict was expanding612. When Zimbabwe

gained its independence during the second phase, between 1980 and 1986, Rhodesia

stopped supporting RENAMO, but it eventually came under the control and support of

the Pretoria government613. The third period, from 1986 to the 1990s, was then marked

by a high level of hostility between the parties, particularly in the southern part of the

nation614. Finally, in the fourth period, between 1990 and 1992, negotiations were

started for the creation of a new constitution in 1990 and for a peace agreement, which

were finished on October 4, 1992615. This coincided with South Africa's support being

gradually decreased during this time616.

612 Diaz, J. (2022). As relações internacionais da construção do Estado em Moçambique: pós-
independência, guerra civil e transições políticas. p.11
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4.4.1 RENAMO

The civil war culminated due to two currents of different ideologies, these two being

Frelimo and RENAMO. Frelimo was the national liberation movement that the power

was transferred to from the metropole, and which also had the majority of support from

the Mozambican population. However, with the emergence of RENAMO having an

ideology opposed to Frelimo this gave rise to disagreements and rivalries that were too

great to overcome, thus starting the civil war. RENAMO was established to work

toward the destabilization of FRELIMO and provide guides and interpreters for military

operations against bases of Zimbabwean nationalist guerrillas in Mozambique by the

Rhodesians617.

The RNM gathered support from different sources, who shared the same objectives,

benefiting from the delicate situation in which Rhodesia found itself, where the

colonists in rebellion against the British crown continued to have difficulties in seeing

their State - unilaterally declared independent in 1965 - recognized by most nations618.

Instead, they faced UN economic sanctions, which Mozambique also imposed (namely,

the closure of the border with Rhodesia in 1976) with vehemence, relying on the

international community to help offset the severe financial consequences of such a

decision619. The Rhodesian government retaliated by supporting RENAMO and

escalating the conflict with the Frelimo regime620

MNR initially focused on "destabilização" (destabilization), such as attacks on

infrastructure and local residents621. This was meant to put the Mozambican

(FRELIMO) government on the defensive, as it had imposed economic sanctions on

Southern Rhodesia and openly supported the Zimbabwean National Liberation Army

(ZANLA)622. However, when the armed liberation movement in Southern Rhodesia

began in 1978, the Southern Rhodesian army ordered MNR to attack ZANLA bases and

617 Masseko, F. (2019). A GUERRA DOS 16 ANOS EM MOÇAMBIQUE: CAUSAS NACIONAIS OU
INTERNACIONAIS? p.123
618 Ferreira, M. E. (2009, July 1). O papel de um empreendimento privado agrícola no reassentamento de
população deslocada de guerra: o caso de Chibonzane em Moçambique. p.51-52
619 Ibid
620 Ibid
621 Funada-Classen, S. (2013). The Origins of War in Mozambique: A History of Unity and Division p.7
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villages that supported it623. The RNM, based in Southern Rhodesia, freely crossed

borders and intensified attacks in the south-eastern part of the country and the central

part of Mozambique624.

Following Mozambique's independence, the Frelimo government supported the

liberation movement in Rhodesia; however, with the emergence of RENAMO, Rhodesia

then provided military support to RENAMO to harm the Frelimo government625. When

Rhodesia's war ended and it became the current Zimbabwe, South Africa took over

Rhodesia's role in assisting RENAMO 626. RNM, allegedly a "puppet" of the Southern

Rhodesian army and intelligence, was expected to vanish when the white minority rule

of Southern Rhodesia gave way to the black majority rule of Zimbabwe in 1980627. On

the contrary, it increased its troop strength from around 1,000 to nearly 7,000 soldiers

and expanded its operational area628. This because Southern Rhodesia, realizing the

dawning of an independent Zimbabwe, negotiated with South Africa to take over its

support of MNR629. A result of this was that by the time of Zimbabwe’s independence,

South Africa’s support for MNR by far exceeded that of its predecessor630 The RNM

relocated its military base from Southern Rhodesia to the Gorongosa National Park in

central Mozambique, with South African support631. The attacks' targets shifted from

various facilities to villages632. MNR attempted to sabotage the rural development

policy that FRELIMO was promoting, as well as to secure food and recruits, by burning

the aldeia comunal (communal villages) and killing FRELIMO supporters633.With the

civil war, everything that Mozambicans tried to build and improve in the country after

independence suffered a huge drop in all the effort invested. Education, health, and

agricultural infrastructures were completely destroyed634. In addition to the war, there

623 Ibid
624 Ibid
625 Ibid
626 Ibid
627 Ibid
628 Ibid
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633 Ibid
634 Claiborne, W. (1988, January 24). WAR PUSHES MOZAMBIQUE TOWARD FAMINE,
COLLAPSE. Washington Post.
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was a huge drought in the early 1980s, which led to a serious case of famine, and the

deaths in Mozambique were caused by war and famine635

With the situation in Mozambique getting worse, more and more international aid then

came to try to assist Mozambique with the crisis it was going through636. Aid was

mostly from Western countries with the biggest financial aid coming from the USA,

which also put pressure on the resolution of the conflict637. The Mozambican

government began to initiate secret negotiations with the South African government,

and they managed to reach the Nkomati Agreement in 1983638.

4.5 The Nkomati agreement

The Nkomati agreement was signed by Samora Machel and Pieter Botha, where they

agreed that Mozambique would stop supporting the African National Congress

militants, and the South African government would also stop supporting RENAMO639.

At this time, South Africa was frowned upon by the international community due to the

racial segregation present in the country, and although Mozambique did not exactly

want to negotiate with the South African regime, it was important that they stay on good

terms with the South African government640. RENAMO was supported by the South

African government and the war between the Mozambican government and RENAMO

was causing catastrophic effects for Mozambique, so they wanted a truce with the South

African regime as soon as this would ease tensions641.

These efforts proved ineffective. By 1982 the MNR had cost the Mozambican

government an estimated $3 8 billion dollars through direct damage and increases in

defense expenditures.27 According to official estimates, the MNR had destroyed 840

schools, 12 health clinics, 24 maternity clinics, 174 health posts, two centers for the

handicapped and 900 shops while kidnapping 52 foreign technicians and killing 12.28

635 Ibid
636 Metz, S. (1986). The Mozambique national resistance and south African foreign policy. African
Affairs. p.497
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By 1983 it was clear that the only way to stop the MNR was through an agreement with

South Africa. South Africa had continually denied support for the MNR, but solid

evidence indicated otherwise642.

4.5.1 The return to hostilities

It was to be expected that with the Nkomati agreement the hostilities would stop, and

the Mozambican government would be able to recover from the war that was

devastating the country, however that was not what happened643. After the signing of the

Nkomati agreement, attacks continued to be frequent, and the Mozambican government

was desperate about what to do to resolve the situation since the path of diplomatic

resolution was also not appeasing the war644. Despite the South African government

claiming that they were no longer supporting the RNM/RENAMO this turned out to be

false645. The fact that RENAMO continued the attacks was proof that the South African

government was still supporting RENAMO militarily646. However, other perspectives

were heard that perhaps the possession of these weapons would be weapons already

provided before the Nkomati agreement647. This second theory was disproved in 1985

when captured MNR papers were found which proved that during and after the

agreement in the South African government continued to train and arm the rnm648. This

proved that South Africa was not in fact fulfilling its part of the agreement not to further

support the RNM, RENAMO649.

It’s a known fact that South Africa has long supported the RNM/RENAMO, and

although the South African government has been involved in attacks in Mozambique,

they have always preferred to invest more in supporting the MNR to carry out these

attacks650. The South African government wanted Mozambique to cut ties with the

642 Ibid
643 Metz, S. (1986). The Mozambique national resistance and south African foreign policy. African
Affairs. p.498
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650 Metz, S. (1986). The Mozambique national resistance and south African foreign policy. African
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ANC- African National Congress in South Africa651. The ANC carried out several

attacks in South Africa which were mostly terrorist attacks carried out by small

groups652. The part that most worried the South African government about these attacks

was that they were causing destabilization in the country and thus interfering with the

long stability that South Africa had before it attracted foreign investment653. The second

reason why South Africa supported the MNR was because it wanted to cause

destabilization in Mozambique, with this destabilization in the South African

government intended that Mozambique would become more economically dependent on

South Africa654. After South Africa industrialized after World War ll they tried to have

an approach to be as autonomous as possible655. However, this proved to be neither

politically nor economically feasible656. Due to this, if Mozambique became more

dependent on South Africa this would be more beneficial for the south African

government.

What was the reason for South Africa to choose the MNR to perpetuate attacks and not

themselves? This is due to two reasons. Firstly, because the intervention that South

Africa made in Angola turned out to be a failure657. And second and perhaps the most

relevant that involves the foreign policy of South Africa is that choosing another actor

to carry out the attack freed South Africa from the responsibility of the attack, the MNR

was in a certain way for South Africa a scape goat 658. It was verified, for example, in

the previously mentioned Nkomati agreement, which was a truce between South Africa

and Mozambique, where South Africa committed to stop supporting RENAMO 659.

However, later agreement evidence was found that South Africa continued to support

the RENAMO militarily660. This aroused suspicion since RENAMO continued the

attacks and that they clearly had weapons. This is merely an example of why South

651 Ibid
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Africa chose not to be directly involved in the attacks to avoid any responsibility in the

GPA.

After Mozambique faced so many years of war in their fight for independence and as

well after the independence the hostilities finally end in 1992 with the peace

agreement661. RENAMO had been fighting Frelimo since 1977 and with the shifting of

some important events in the international context both FRELIMO and RENAMO

decided they reached a point it was leading nowhere, most imporatantly, harming

Mozambique662. The death of Machel and the end of the Soviet Union were two big

factors that made them reach this conclusion. With the dismantling of the Soviet Union,

the bipolarization atmosphere that marked the international scene was finally over663.

The cold war did emphasize the differences between RENAMO and FRELIMO, also

the influence that the actors had in this area and the help they were providing to

RENAMO and FRELIMO contributed also to deepen the rivalry664. Thus, shortly after

the end of the cold war a round of peace talks began in Nairobi in 1990 that two years

later would culminate in the general peace agreement665. In the peace agreement

FRELIMO and RENAMO agreed on a ceasefire, the demobilization of their armies, to

form a unified army and to multiparty election666.

4.6 The first elections

After the signing of the general peace agreement, two years later in 1994 the first multi-

party elections were held in Mozambique667. The people were happy to also have a

multi party democratic regime which motivated for a big number of voters668. Just

coming out of the war a couple of years before the politicians running for the elections

661 Rugumamu, S., & Gbla, O. (2003). STUDIES IN RECONSTRUCTION AND CAPACITY
BUILDING IN POST-CONFLICT COUNTRIES IN AFRICA SOME LESSONS OF EXPERIENCE
FROM MOZAMBIQUE p.13
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666 Mawson, A. (2014, July 11). Compromise and Trust-Building After Civil War: Elections
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667 Mazula, B., & Mbilana, G. (2003). O PAPEL DAS ORGANIZAÇÕES DA SOCIEDADE CIVIL NA
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were not making hate speeches about it other but were focusing more on a speech of

maintaining the peace and agreeing to never go to the war path again669. Since the 1994

elections were the first multi partite elections of Mozambique, it was needed a effective

voter education campaign to appeal people to register and vote670. It was mostly

students and young people that the commission civic and voter education chose to

oversee this and therefore travel to the rural areas671. However, the commission realized

that this was not working because these people did not have credibility in the

communities, they visited672. To solve this problem, they realized that it should be

traditional leaders to enforce this role since they were more respected In the rural

communities673.

It was much easier to implement the civic education program once the election

commission began reaching out to traditional leaders and the youth educators had the

leaders' approval to work in their communities674. The decision to work through

traditional leaders was a contentious one within the election commission675. During the

fight for independence and throughout the civil war, FRELIMO had marginalized

traditional leaders, viewing them as anti-revolutionary figures who had collaborated too

closely with the Portuguese676. RENAMO, on the other hand, had used traditional

leaders to spread its message during the war677.

Since FRELIMO knew rename had this advantage with the “régulos” FRELIMO was

hesitant in using the régulos for the election commissions work, but in the end they

agreed678. The next step would be voter registration 679 Although registration was the

second stage of the STAE Action Plan, the plan was scant on details680. Recognizing
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that registration officials would need to travel around the country to reach a dispersed

population, the commission worked closely with the parties to arrange an amendment to

the electoral law that would allow mobile voter registration brigades to run the

registration process681.

After the voter registration process began the commission immediately saw some

difficulties that had not anticipated due to political and logistical constraints682. This

process was difficult due to the state of the country’s infrastructure where there was

landmine threat, unseasonable rains in parts of the country and also a delay relating to

the vehicles, since there were not enough vehicles683. To tackle this, they relied on the

international help and decided the air transportation would be more effective684. “Air

transportation proved essential for accessing remote areas that were cut off from urban

centers by bad roads and landmines685. Even though the air transportation heavily

increased the costs it revealed to be essential otherwise it would not have been possible

to conclude the electoral timetable in time686. The air transportation saved the

inconvenience of the country rainy season687.

The commission directed several brigades to travel further into rural areas on foot to

better reach voters688. To improve food supplies to the brigades, the commission

collaborated with the United Nations World Food Programme, which arranged for

maize, beans, oil, and sugar to be distributed689. Finally, to ensure that logistical

constraints early in the registration process did not have a negative impact on the

number of voters registered, the commission continued to work closely with the parties

to extend the registration deadline690. With the cooperation of the parties, the

commission negotiated an amendment to the electoral law that extended the registration
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period by two weeks, to September 2691. By the final deadline, the commission had

managed to register over 80% of the estimated total number of voters—which had been

revised downward from 8.5 to 7.5 million692.

Other problem that arises from this process was the fact that RENAMO was opposed to

the use of computers to tally votes693. RENAMO had this distrust after finding out that

the company who was to provide the computers and software was the same company

had was involved in Angola’s failed elections694. RENAMO did not trust the computer

system to be reliable even though the selection had been made by the European union

which was one of the actors that most helped Mozambique in their transition to

democracy695. This problem ended up being solved after the European commission

assured RENAMO that the system was reliable and there was no reason to believe it

was not reliable696.

The commission then had to set up and staff the polling places. Votes were initially

tallied in front of election observers and party representatives at the polling places697.

Following the count, the public notice of results was signed by all party agents and

polling station staff698. A copy was also displayed outside the polling place. Officials

then sent the notice to the district level699. The results from the numerous polling places

were collated at the district level, and officials were instructed to repeat the validation

and transmittal procedures700. In order to determine the province results, authorities at

the provincial level were required to enter data from the district level into a computer

program701. The provincial election officials after this, then were supposed to transmit

691 Ibid
692 Ibid
693 Ibid
694 Ibid
695 Ibid
696 Ibid
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PREVENÇÃO, GESTÃO E TRANSFORMAÇÃO DE CONFLITOS: A EXPERIÊNCIA DE
MOÇAMBIQUE p.7-8
698 Ibid
699 Ibid
700 Ibid
701 Ibid

102



that information to Maputo, where the election commission would validate the final

results702.

Because it lacked the authority or resources to handle some of the issues that occurred

in keeping political parties loyal to the process, the election commission frequently had

to cooperate with the international community to maintain the electoral process703.

When RENAMO's leader, Afonso Dhlakama, declared that his party would boycott the

elections on the eve of the election in October 1994, the important role of the

international community came into sharp relief704. According to Dhlakama, FRELIMO

was preparing a significant electoral scam705. The diplomatic establishment worked

nonstop to get RENAMO back706. On the morning of the second election day,

RENAMO consented to return to the voting process707

The U.N.-led commission in charge of overseeing the peace process gave RENAMO an

assurance that it would monitor the elections, and donors sweetened the deal by

contributing an additional US$1 million to the RENAMO Trust Fund708. The election

commission added a third day of voting when RENAMO returned to the elections to

make up for the day the party had lost due to its boycott 709.However, the role of the

international community was occasionally criticized after the fact to bribe RENAMO in

1994 to stay on course inspired the party in later elections to withdraw from the race at

crucial points and make a variety of additional threats to get support and attention from

abroad710.
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Both the international community and Mozambicans praised the 1994 elections as a

success711. The last-minute boycott attempt by RENAMO was defeated, and the war did

not erupt again as some had predicted712. The outcomes were eventually agreed upon by

all stakeholders, including RENAMO713. By the time the polls closed, 87% of the

eligible electorate had voted714. The EU's election observation team stated a few days

after the election that Mozambican polling officials "exhibited a high degree of

transparency, conscientiousness, and diligence during the counting operations at polling

stations715.

The election commission played an important role, managing its affairs and public

efforts in a way that inspired trust in the voting process's underlying fairness716. The

commission's public communication strategy was effective717. The requirement for

consensus in decision making aided in the development of trust in a hostile

environment718.

4.7 The failure of the democracy

However, contrary to the elections of 1994 where FRELIMO and this was accepted

quite well, the same did not happen in the 1998 elections719. 2the first municipal

elections of 1998 were characterized by boycott campaigns led by opposition parties,

who claimed that the objective conditions for their holding had not been created720. As a

result of this boycott there was an abstention of 85% 721The results of the second

presidential and legislative elections of 1999 were strongly contested by the Renamo-
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PREVENÇÃO, GESTÃO E TRANSFORMAÇÃO DE CONFLITOS: A EXPERIÊNCIA DE
MOÇAMBIQUE p.9
712 Ibid
713 Ibid
714 Ibid
715 Ibid
716 Mazula, B., & Mbilana, G. (2003). O PAPEL DAS ORGANIZAÇÕES DA SOCIEDADE CIVIL NA
PREVENÇÃO, GESTÃO E TRANSFORMAÇÃO DE CONFLITOS: A EXPERIÊNCIA DE
MOÇAMBIQUE p.10
717 Ibid
718 Ibid
719 Mazula, B., & Mbilana, G. (2003). O PAPEL DAS ORGANIZAÇÕES DA SOCIEDADE CIVIL NA
PREVENÇÃO, GESTÃO E TRANSFORMAÇÃO DE CONFLITOS: A EXPERIÊNCIA DE
MOÇAMBIQUE p.3
720 Ibid
721 Ibid

104



União Eleitoral (RUE), considered fraudulent, despite their revalidation by the Supreme

Court 722The following year, the same Coalition organized general demonstrations

across the country, which ended up causing clashes with the police in the cities of Beira

(central part of the country) and Montepuez723. They resulted in more than a hundred

deaths in the city of Montepuez, in the northern province of Cabo Delgado. A climate of

fear and instability was generated in that city and a certain political tension throughout

the country.724”

In November 1999, the second general and multi-party elections were held725.

Opposition political parties formed the Renamo-União Eleitoral Coalition (RUE)726.

The electoral process was very disputed727. This year's electoral campaign was

characterized by speeches of mutual attacks between Frelimo and Renamo-União

Eleitoral728. The belligerent tone of the speeches was joined at times by acts of violence

between sympathizers and members of the two major political parties729.

On 1999 the second multipartite general elections took place in which political parties

of the opposition formed a colligation - Coligaçao Renamo-União Eleitoral (RUE)730.

The electoral process of this year was very disputed where the speeches of FRELIMO

and Renamo-União eleitoral consisted of mutual attacks, and also involved moments of

violence with the people who supported these two biggest political parties731. Since in

these elections Frelimo won again there were big protests and contestations from the

colligation RENAMO Uniao Eleitoral which turned the country again in a atmosphere

of violence 732
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When comparing the period of the 1990´s where people were eager to vote in a fair

democracy the same cannot be said from the period of 2000/2010733. The elections in

the 1990s were marked by a high rate of participation like in the general elections of

1994 and 1999, where there was also a significant number of political parties and

candidates734.

Even though the election and the electoral campaigns were not free of problems, the

problems and inconveniences that raised were able to be solved with a relatively

peaceful atmosphere735. Furthermore, even though FRELIMO won the elections in 1994

RENAMO did not protest and accepted the win of FRELIMO736.

This peaceful atmosphere would change particularly in the period comprised of 2000-

2010737. In this period the democratic euphoria vanished and from here the electoral

processes were characterized by a high rate of abstention, violence and an overall

environment of distrust738. “the participation rate went from 80% in the 1990´s to 45%

in the years 2000/2010”739. Besides this, there were significant errors and frauds in the

process of the results and also mistakes in the voters registration which caused

RENAMO to reject results and start boycotting the electoral processes due to fraud.

Consequently, the violence increased between the Frelimo and RENAMO. In 2000, in a

protest against the electoral results in Montepuez, nine people died740. After the civil

war Mozambique was going on right path to have a successful democracy, so what

when wrong in this process? just coming out of a civil war the political institutions were

quite fragile which is not abnormal741. However, RENAMO and FRELIMO after

becoming political parties after the war, when examining this they had no real

experience or competence. The politicians were unexperienced t they did not had

enough resources, and the struggle to govern it was more driven by the power and not in

maintaining a fair well working democracy742.
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The obsession for power has a few factors that contribute to this. Living in a poor

country where the wealth distribution is made in an unfair way, plus social inequality

and social exclusion leads for people to see the power as the only way out of these

precarious situations743.

Aside from the low motivation to participate, the act of voting is logistically difficult, if

not impossible744. Sometimes the distances to the polling station are too big, or the

polling days coincide with the rainy season, which isolates many villages.745 P34. Faced

with the systemic challenges of Mozambican politics, the population regards the

electoral act as futile and prefers not to participate746. They assume its pointless firstly

because Frelimo will in and secondly nothing major will change in Mozambique’s

policies regardless of the result. The people know the politicians make promises in vain

and concentrate the power in themselves, leaving a socioeconomic situation of

inequality.

Even though in the decade of 1990 both parties were able to sustain a situation of

bipartidism and later RENAMO had an improvement regarding the votes in the general

elections of 2014, RENAMO still can’t win against Frelimo747. Besides obtaining most

of the votes the government of FRELIMO was also very centralized748. The

Mozambicans knew FRELIMO would always win not just because of the centralizing

efforts of the party but also because they did not have high hopes for RENAMO 749.

RENAMO while compared to FRELIMO were more unexperienced, still used a lot of

violence and they never really changed the way of operating and conduct serious

political matters750. There was no change in RENAMO as a guerrilla and as a political

party.

In the case of Afonso Dhlakama he always prioritized his wealth then managing

RENAMO in a fair and democratic way751. The resources provided to him from the

743 Ibid
744 Da Silva, C. R. (2016). As eleições e a democracia moçambicana. p.34
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international community were poorly spent, instead of focusing on having strong and

competent allies in the party he would kick them out of the party752. Two members that

were expelled were Raul Domingos and Daviz Simango, because Dhlakama felt

threatened by them753. Furthermore, rename every time it would find a situation unfair

or had a disagreement, they would always opt for a strategy of violence to have things

get played in their way754. RENAMO simply did not abandon the guerrilla mindset from

the civil war, and that also why on issues that should be solved politically but they opt

for violence, therefore RENAMO loses its credibility755.

4.8 A New Peace

When the peace was established, the country began to experience accelerated economic

growth. However, the benefits of this growth were not felt by the majority, with more

than half of the population remaining below the poverty. This contributed for RENAMO

to deny the peace agreement, and in 2013, starting a low-level insurgency. In 2014, a

new peace agreement was negotiated and signed shortly before the general elections.

However, the election results were contested and the agreement turned out to be short-

lived, with a resurgence of violence in 2015. The RENAMO insurgency did not stop

with the agreement, tensions between Renamo and Frelimo came back again between

2014 and 2015, when a military political crisis erupted. The country, despite having

signed peace, the situation in Mozambique was not what was initially imagined. After

the 1992 peace agreement, already out of the civil war, Mozambique was experiencing

good economic growth. However, this economic growth was not being reflected fairly

in Mozambican society. Despite this economic growth there were serious problems of

inequality due to a failure to share wealth and redistribute it. With these problems, the

transparency of the Frelimo government began to be called into question and this would

culminate in Frelimo's former opposition, RENAMO, rekindling tensions between these

two.
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With the increase in tensions between Frelimo and RENAMO, several actors in the

international community decided to intervene to mediate the conflict. Among these, the

European Union, ambassadors from South Africa, the former president of Tanzania and

even the Catholic Church played an important role756. This mediation lasted about 5

months, however it did not lead to any positive result757. Having said that, President

Filipe Jacinto Nyusi and President Afonso Dlaklhama of rowing decided the best way to

reaching an agreement that would benefit both would be to start negotiating directly758.

The path they chose to negotiate directly was effective and culminated in a national

peace process on March 1, 2017.

The main problems they had in mind to solve was decentralization, so for that they

elaborated a proposal for a new decentralization framework759. And regarding the

RENAMO fighters, the topic of the DDR would be dealt with by a military affairs

commission760. Also, to ensure that the ceasefire would be adhered to, they also created

a joint monitoring and verification team761.

A Contact Group, chaired by the Swiss Ambassador to Mozambique, Mirko Manzoni,

was formed to coordinate support from the international community. A Secretariat was

also created in early 2017 to support the process762”. Significant advances were made,

which resulted in a revision of the Constitution, which included amendments on

decentralization reform, and which was unanimously approved by the Assembly of the

Republic in May 2018, followed by the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding

(MoU) on Military Affairs in August 2018763.

This Memorandum of Understanding outlined the road map for disarmament,

demobilization, and reintegration (DDR)764. The unexpected death of RENAMO leader

Afonso Dhlakama on 3 May 2018 hampered the process. With the appointment of

Ossufo Momade as Interim RENAMO leader, he was quickly and thoroughly

756 Maputo Accord. https://maputoaccord.org/
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759 Ibid
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introduced to the process to ensure that it remained on track765. Following the signing of

the Memorandum of Understanding, both the government and RENAMO demonstrated

their dedication to the central issue of DDR, with the process officially kicking off in

October 2018766. The following organizations are involved: the Commission on Military

Affairs, the DDR Joint Technical Group, the Integration Joint Technical Group, and the

Monitoring and Verification Joint Technical Group 767.

In 2019, before the signing of the final peace agreement, RENAMO officially started

the DDR process with its government counterparts768. This action managed to create

confidence and stability before the signing of the definitive cessation of military

hostilities agreement and the Maputo peace and national reconciliation agreement,

which took place in August 2019769. This agreement finally put an end to the tensions

that reappeared in 2013 , where RENAMO and Frelimo pledged to end all political and

military hostilities and focus on a future of lasting peace770. – mention fully

implementing the legislative package on decentralization.

After the Mozambican independence the power was simply transferred to FRELIMO

with any elections. This gave rise to opposition that did not agree that Frelimo should

have the legitimacy to govern the country, hence RENAMO is created in 1975 as

opposition to Frelimo. The civil war did not happen has immediately as in Angola, but it

began also shortly after in 1977. Such as Angola, the Mozambican civil war was a

product of the sloppy Portuguese decolonization that caused devastating consequences

to the country.

4.9 Relations between Portugal and Mozambique

Relations between Portugal and Mozambique were initially more difficult than those

between Portugal and Angola, and they took much longer to improve771. The difficulties

with Maputo were quite different from those with Luanda, reflecting fundamental

765 Ibid
766 Ibid
767 Ibid
768 Ibid
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771 MacQueen, N. (1997). The Decolonization of Portuguese Africa p.227
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differences in the two territories' conditions at independence772. For starters,

Mozambique's economic prospects were infinitely worse than those of Angola773.

Second, Angola's civil war had resulted in a violent, traumatic, but ultimately total

exodus of white settlers774. However, in the case of Mozambique even though there was

a trigger in the outflow of settlers, the ones who stayed had a harsh treatment towards

the Mozambicans which made the tensions between Lisbon and Maputo to worsen775.

The Frelimo regime in the first two years went ahead with a series of nationalizations

that affected both financial and human resources776. there were also concerns of

Portuguese citizens being held in prison without trial and the situation was further

aggravated when Frelimo nationalized all the Portuguese banks777.

It is difficult to understand Frelimo's refusal to cooperate in improving relations with

Portugal currently778. Despite a far-reaching east European-inspired development

program adopted in early 1977, the economy showed few signs of improvement779. By

1978 the guerrilla war against the white regime in Rhodesia was almost daily spilling

across the border into Mozambique780. Worryingly, the opposition movement that would

eventually be known as RENAMO had begun a campaign of violence in border areas781.

Since Mozambique was in such situation it was expected to be wanting to have any kind

of friendship extended to it782. While some in the Frelimo leadership were probably

thinking along those lines Machel's style and pronouncements became increasingly

authoritarian, as if he was determined to assert Portugal's irrelevance, whether as a

friend or foe to the new revolutionary state783

The relationship improved slightly in the early 1980s as a result of Eanes' personal

diplomacy. He and Machel met informally in Luanda during Agostinho Neto's funeral in

September 1979, and a formal visit to Portugal by Joaquim Chissano, Mozambique's
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then-foreign minister and number two in the Frelimo hierarchy, followed in early

1981784. However, this improvement in bilateral relations was largely due to a broader

shift in Mozambican foreign policy toward the west785. Several factors influenced the

westward opening786. There was a realization that condemning the entire capitalist

world as imperialism incarnate was not only politically incorrect, but also economically

counter-productive787.

Portugal did not have a lot of interest in Mozambique except for Cabora Bassa hydro-

electric scheme and carries over 805 of the debt burden associated with it788. Since from

the Mozambican independence Portugal had agreed to maintain responsibility for

this789. When the project was completed in July of 1977 it also coincided with anti-

FRELIMO guerrilla movement that was occurring790. Therefore, assuring stability was

economically important for Portugal because internal conflicts in Mozambique could

get in the way of the chances of recouping its investment791.

Portugal showed some initial optimist with Nkomati accord signed in 1984 later on it

just proved that the accord failed and was unable to contain RENAMO792. In the 1980s,

the RENAMO issue became a major source of contention between Portugal and

Mozambique793. The problem was similar to, but far more serious than, the one between

Lisbon and Luanda over anti-MPLA activity in Portugal794. Mozambican hostility was

centered on the fact that a significant portion of RENAMO's publicly identified

leadership were Portuguese citizens who had refused to compromise with the Frelimo

state by taking Mozambican nationality at independence795.

These interests allegedly wielded power at the highest levels of the centre-right PSD,

which was in and out of power throughout the 1980s796. Relations were strained further
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in 1988 by the kidnapping and murder of a leading figure in RENAMO , Evo

Fernandes, near Lisbon, which resulted in the expulsion of a junior diplomat from the

Mozambican embassy on suspicion of involvement797.Perhaps it was this underlying

tension that prevented Portugal from playing the prominent role in efforts to resolve

Mozambique's problems that it did in Angola798.

Portugal was not completely excluded from the peace process. Although not in a key

position – the United Nations mission was led by an Italian – Portugal served on the

Supervision and Control Commission, which oversaw demobilization and election

preparations, and UNOMOZ included a Portuguese army contingent799. RENAMO

performed better than expected in the October 1994 elections, but was easily defeated

by Frelimo, which won an absolute majority in the national assembly and re-elected

Chissano as president800. This could also justified since in Angola there were oil and

diamonds worth fighting for but this was not the case in Mozambique801.
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Chapter 5

Guinea Bissau

Guinea has always been one of the most unwanted Portuguese colonies, with the

Portuguese giving priority to Brazil, and when Brazil had its Independence, Angola

became the most important Portuguese colony, being considered the Portuguese jewel of

the Portuguese colonies in Africa. During the period of colonization and the Portuguese

occupation, what the Portuguese most wanted to “take advantage of” from Guinea

Bissau was the forced labor of Guineans. Throughout the period of Portuguese

occupation inhuman acts were committed against the population where slavery was

what Portuguese most focused on in Guinea, and not so much the extraction of natural

resources. Even after slavery was banned, forced labor of Guineans remained but under

other rules, for it to be legally and morally acceptable. This took place after the Berlin

conference where the so-called “pacification campaigns” took place. The main objective

of these campaigns was to force the Guineans to pay the hut tax. In order to be able to

pay this tax, Guineans would have to work up to a certain amount and then to be sold by

the settlers. Basically, imposto de palhota was “hidden” forced labor, in the sense that

the Portuguese simply found another alternative and circumvented the legal situation in

order to continue to enjoy the forced labor of Guineans.

Guinea then started its liberation war against Portugal after Angola and Mozambique

already started there’s. Such as it was in the case of Mozambique and Angola there was

a particular moment of colonial repression that triggered them to start also their war.

5.1 The Pidjiguiti massacre

In 3rd of August of 1969 the workers of the port of Pidjiguiti organized a strike claiming

a rase in the salaries802. Particularly those who worked for the Gouveia house were

violently repressed by the colonial employees, police, military as well as some civilians,

where it resulted in the death of 50 people803. Although this was not the first workers

802 Roque, S. (2019, July 29). 3 de Agosto de 1959, Massacre de Pidjiguiti, Bissau. Coimbra. p.33
803 Ibid
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strike, having previously organized one in 6 of march of 1956 for the same reason804.

However this strike had just a few detentions and not such an strong violence as the

strike 1959805. According to the reports and testimonies of the survivors and other

witnesses, since they refused to attend to the workers revindications the workers

decided to go forth with the strike and gathered in the port stopping all activity806.

Facing this the colonial authorities threatened them as the workers closed the gate that

had access to the port807. This lead to the soldiers and police to knock down the gate and

shoot at these workers indiscriminately.

After the repression, multiple strikers and sympathizers were detained, and some

tortured and persecuted by PIDE as PIDE considered this strike impossible to be

organized by indigenous analphabets808. the model of economic control in Guinea

always based itself in the commercial exploration of the existent activity, from the

traffic of slaves to the Agricola production.809 After the second world war the forced

labor was replaced by the “trabalho assalariado”, that could be translated to very low

wages and precarious conditions based in authoritarianism810.

The Pidjiguiti repression happened in a time where the “ estatuto do indigenato” was

still employed but also, in a time where the nationalist movements in Guinea were

starting to organize themselves with a higher intensity, also inspired by the international

context being pro the “African independence”811. What happened in Pidjiguiti was a

demonstration of the excessive use of violence against civilians without any possibility

of defense. In this particular happening the goal was to completely shatter any resistance

to colonialism through the fear of the indiscriminate use of violence812. P 35 this

massacre was taken as an historical moment of the strong colonial repression that would

foment the nationalist spirit of guinea but particularly of PAIGC to lead an armed fight

for the liberation of Guinea 813.
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Like in the case of Angola and Mozambique, the Pidjiguiti massacre just confirmed that

for Guinea to have their independence the only solution would be to start an armed fight

against the metropole.

5.2 The beginning of the armed fight

Despite extensive planning for the operations, it was decided to start the armed conflict

despite the fact that there was a lack of supplies814. On January 23, 1963, the first attack

was made on Tite's barracks815. This attack had a significant impact because, at the time,

Tite was commanded by a captain known as "Captain Short," who rose to fame for the

atrocities and brutalities he committed against prisoners brought there from other parts

of the Province, militants and supporters of the cause of national independence, the

ordinary population of that region of Quinara, and other targets816.

In this way, the guerrillas, who were at the time still in their infancy, as well as the

populations who endured those horrors, gained a great deal of courage from the attack

on Tite's barracks817. It quickly spread through oral tradition (word of mouth) and the

events that started in Tite with that first action818. After all, there was a chance of

defeating the colonialists. Along with the attacks, numerous acts of sabotage were also

committed, such as cutting down trees on trails and CTT phone lines to impede

communication between the colonial authorities. Threatening notes to the Portuguese

authorities were left at the scenes of the crimes819.

In response to this attack, the colonial power became more violent and brutal toward our

populations, but on the other hand, support for the cause of the liberation struggle also

grew. Attacks by the PAIGC increased to some extent across the so-called Portuguese

Guinea territory820. Parallel to these assaults, Amílcar Cabral quickly acquired new

resources, including weapons and equipment.821. The Cassaca Congress was critical to

814 Início da Guerra na Guiné-Bissau 1963. Uma Visão Guineense.Portal Da Defesa.
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the success of the National Liberation Struggle822. Despite the existence of

organizational directives issued by the Party leadership in order to standardize

procedures and follow a coordinated strategy, the guerrillas gradually organized

themselves in the image of the leaders who led the various guerrilla groups823. Given the

low level of preparation of some of the leaders, clear signs of unpreparedness on the

part of the guerrilla leaders began to emerge824. A spirit of superstition and mistrust

spread among all, undermining the armed struggle for a common goal825. At the same

time, illnesses caused by poor personal hygiene and a lack of basic medical care

exacerbated the situation826.

5.3 PAIGC

The PAIGC Partido Africano para a Independência da Guiné e Cabo Verde, was

founded in 1956 in Bissau, and was the national liberation movement that led the

Guinean war against Portuguese colonialism827. Priority was thus given to the

mobilization of the peasant masses. Amílcar Cabral was the great leader of the PAIGC

and of the armed struggle that followed and would lead to the independence of the

country. AmÍlcar Cabral and five other comrades, including Aristides Pereira, Luis

Cabral, Inácio Júlio Semedo, Fernando Fortes, and Elisée Turpin, secretly founded the

African Party for the Independence of Guinea and Cape Verde (PAIGC) on September

19, 1956, in Bissau828. It was a political organization that aimed to bring Guinea and

Cape Verde together in order to overthrow the colonial regime. Founded with the name

party, the PAIGC was nothing more than a revolutionary liberation movement from its

inception until March 1972, when it was transformed into a party with the holding of a

General Assembly in April of the same year829.
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Amílcar Cabral first joined the Casa de Estudante do Império (CEI) in Portugal, an

institution that helped students integrate into the new cultural reality830. Later, he

founded the Center for African Studies (CEA) with other colleagues, where the group

met to discuss, define strategies, and develop political actions to raise awareness not

only of colleagues in the metropolis, but also to make their ideas reach the colonies. The

goal was to make them understand the negative consequences of the colonial regime831.

The action was carried out primarily through literary and poetic manifestations, which

were disseminated both within and outside of the metropolis via participation in

magazines and collections832.After finishing the study, he was sent as an agronomist to

the colonial government to carry out agricultural mapping in Guinea, as he later

stated833. Due to the demands of the job, Amílcar Cabral had the opportunity to travel

throughout the country and meet people who he later relied on to create the PAIGC and

spark the struggle for self-determination in the States of Guinea and Cape Verde834.

Influenced by the context of neighboring countries' independence processes, the PAIGC

defined peaceful struggle as a priority of its strategy when it was formed, thus following

the example set by former French and English colonies835. Before starting any armed

actions against the colonial state , the PAIGC militants took about three years to

investigate patiently h local conditions, focusing its efforts on local ethnic groups most

likely to support and sustain the rebellion836. They gained their sympathy of developing

a form of political propaganda that summarized, in fact, the reasons for people's

complaint837

However, three years after its formation, the events of August 3, 1959, at the Pidjiguiti

Pier in Bissau - in which fifty dockers were killed and one hundred others were injured -

changed its strategy, and it began to use the guerrilla technique to harass colonial
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commercial activity838. Thus, in 1961, he launched "Direct Action," a sabotage tactic

based on the destruction of roads, bridges, electrical networks, and communication

systems839. Apart from Guinea-Conakry, where the movement's central base was

established, training of militants and party cadres began abroad in 1960 and 1962.

Among the support received at that time, the People's Republic of China was the first to

receive and train PAIGC militants, then other countries followed, among which the

Kingdom of Morocco, Algeria, Eastern European Countries and Cuba also supported

the training of political cadres and militants of the PAIGC840.

Many of the militants assembling in Conakry had previously served in the colonial army

and had some familiarity with military instruction, therefore, instructors were appointed

and basic training started for everyone who was present841. After preparing them, they

were dispatched to the various regions of the former Portuguese Province to spread

awareness of the goals and causes of the National Liberation Struggle842. By this time, I

had already returned from People's China with the first group of Guinean militants sent

there for guerrilla warfare training, which included many of the individuals who would

go on to become famous commanders of the armed forces843.

The PAIGC's militant or political education had anti-colonial and Afro-centered goals,

aiming to demolish the system and the prejudiced, hierarchical, and oppressive

educational practices passed down from Portuguese colonial education844. It introduced

new knowledge and experiences of social life into textbooks and school curricula,

emphasizing learning about the concrete realities of the African people, the historical

processes they were opposing at the time - colonialism - and the violent and structural

relationships that resulted from their practices845.
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An important mark of PAIGC was the unity between Guinea and Cape Verde. In this

time there was a relevant feeling of pan Africanism, Amilcar Cabral also influenced by

this used this as an inspiration for the unity, using therefore the pan Africanism

argument for to work together for the independence of both846.

Amílcar Cabral used this argument as a pretext to achieve his goal of granting

independence to the two former colonies. He felt a part of Guinea and Cape Verde, and

he wanted to fight for his rights, but the only way to do so was to unite the struggles847.

One advantage is that they are geographically close regions, with interconnected pasts

and cultural similarities in terms of language: Creole. When it was determined that the

necessary conditions had been met, the PAIGC launched the armed struggle for national

liberation in Guinea-south Bissau's on January 23th of 1963, with the participation of

Guineans and Cape Verdeans848. The post-independence period was not successful,

particularly in Angola and Mozambique, where political groups involved in the

revolutionary process did not get along and engaged in a decade-long armed conflict849.

Meanwhile, in Guinea-Bissau, there was growing uncertainty about how to build unity

between two national groups850.

Besides having ideological differences another problem that the liberation movement

also had to deal was the struggle to make the public machine work properly851. As

previously stated, in the case of Mozambique and Angola the development of

infrastructure was quite precarious, and it was even more accentuated in Guinea852. The

Portuguese colonization had caused in the former colonies limited developments, social,

economic and political disequilibrium that made an obstacle for these to have a proper

development. In the Guinea case it was considered a “colonia de tráfico” unlike

Angola, Mozambique and Cape Verde that were “colonias de povoamento”853. This was

due to Guinea, while comparing to Angola did not have significant natural resources
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worth exploring, therefore the Portuguese in Guinea only focused in the traffic of slaves

and forced labor. Consequently, Guinea in detriment of the other Portuguese colonies

had a even lower level of people with education and less working infrastructures.

Furthermore, there was also a selective choosing for education, where the population

was classified in two social categories854. The assimilados that technically had the same

social rights as the Portuguese, that were about 1% of the population, meanwhile 99%

were the indigenous that barely had any rights, education and healthcare855.

There was a greater vulnerability to colonial army land and air attacks on large

encampments known as central bases or barracks856. When the Secretary General of the

Party learned of the situation, which he considered serious and a threat to the liberation

struggle, he decided to convene a meeting in the country's interior with all those

responsible for the guerrilla movement857. This gathering was known as the Congress of

Cassacá, after the town where it was held858. As previously stated, all guerrilla

commanders, officials, and Party leaders were summoned to the meeting, and severe

measures were taken against those who committed crimes and abuses against civilian

and, in some cases, military populations for several days after testifying witnesses and

victims of the misdemeanors and crimes committed859.

The party was forced to confront two fundamental aspects of its purpose as soon as the

struggle began in 1964: first, it was an Armed Action - perpetrated by the Battle of

Komo, which lasted seventy-five days and nights of bombing and displaced the General

Staff to closely monitor operations860. The second, the Political Action - the 1st

Congress of the PAIGC, which took place from February 13th to 17th in Cassacá, was

taking place fifteen kilometers from the Island of Komo861. Congress was called

together in an emergency to correct errors that were occurring and could jeopardize the

struggle. Errors included deviations from guidelines, assassinations of populations

whose support was critical to the success of the movement's struggle, and abuse of
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power by some guerrilla commanders862. To avoid being discredited by the general

public, he decided to hold his first Congress in Cassacá, in the country's south, to

deliberate on plans that could provide political-military support and guide the PAIGC

towards independence863.

Among the resolutions passed by Congress was one calling for increased knowledge864.

This occurred through the establishment of schools, investments in the education of

adults and children, and incentives for individuals to invest in their own education in

order to improve the Party's boards865. There was a priority in improving the

population's quality of life in the territories of Guinea governed by the PAIGC, where

there were more educational institutions, better healthcare, and other basic services866.

These liberated zones provided Guineans with hope for a better quality of life away

from Portuguese colonialism, and they were also critical in the liberation struggle867. In

1971 the PAIGC already governed about two thirds of the country, once again proving

the superiority of the Guinean armed struggle against Portuguese colonialism 868

After they started their armed struggle in Tite, probably the most important battle was

the Battle of Komo Island869. The Guineans were able to take the island quite

effectively, which was a very important milestone not only in the history of the

liberation of Guinea and Cape Verde but in general in the African struggles870. The

Portuguese made several attacks to try to recover the island of Como, however this

proved to be a failure871. The case of the battle of the island of como proved how well

the PAIGC was organized and also the difficulty that the Portuguese had and would

have during the armed struggle led by the PAIGC872.

862 Ibid
863 Ibid
864 A. (2022, September 13). A Educação Política para a Libertação na Guiné-Bissau entre 1963-1974.
Tricontinental: Institute for Social Research.
865 Ibid
866 Ibid
867 Ibid
868 Ibid
869 Woollacott, J. (1983). A luta pela libertação nacional na Guiné-Bissau e a revolução em Portugal.
p.1134
870 Ibid
871 Ibid
872 Ibid

122



The battle for the Komo Islands in early 1964—arguably the most important military

event in the African wars—represented a far-reaching turning point873. For more than

three months, the Portuguese army launched successive attacks on the Como islands, in

an attempt to secure a strategic base from which to attack the southern front of the

PAIGC874 This operation was, however, a failure, constituting a serious military and

psychological setback for Portuguese colonialism and an enormous boost to the morale

and determination of the PAIGC875. Even so, the PAIGC found itself in a position to

announce in 1966 that it controlled two-thirds of the national territory876

Given the peculiar circumstances of the country, which lacked staff, the PAIGC began

to become bureaucratized after that first major meeting, allowing it to create

hierarchical structures in order to coordinate its actions in different locations where its

bases were implanted877. This attitude was decisive, as it allowed the struggle to

continue and ensured mechanisms that streamlined the functioning of the movement,

both in terms of controlling the relationship that the guerrillas maintained with society,

and with regard to organizational performance878.

In areas liberated from colonial administration control, the PAIGC established its own

state structures, the embryo of the future independent republic: an effective system of

communal administration and popular justice, the provision of health and education

services for the first time, the establishment of a market network and the distribution of

peasant products, As a result, the residents of the liberated zones saw their lives

improve. Even though they had never seen a colonist or a Portuguese soldier, they

understood the reason for their fight879.

The spectacular victories of the liberation struggle led by the PAiGC compelled

Portuguese colonialism to take an audacious step in Guinea — a step unrivaled in other

war-torn colonies. in Portugal. To the appointment of António de Spínola, in 1968, to
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the position governor-general in Bissau represented a qualitative development of the

fight880. Unlike his predecessor, Arnaldo Schultz, and nearly the entire military

hierarchy in Lisbon, Spinola recognized a serious problem in that small and inhospitable

western Portuguese "province881." The war would be nearly lost militarily, and the

colonial authorities' complete disregard for the needs and aspirations of the people

under his nominal administration had provided the PAIGC with a fertile field of

recruitment and a solid base of support882. Spinola's strategy, which was the only viable

option given the circumstances, was twofold: Reinforce the morale and effectiveness of

the colonial army in an attempt to establish a “military balance” with the guerrillas; 2)

Launch a campaign that aimed to gain the "sympathy and commitment" of the Guinean

people, seeking to face their main shortages, thereby undermining the political base of

the PAIGC883.

5.4 Spínola “For a better Guinea”

Spinola's “For a Better Guinea” campaign was a courageous attempt at political

liberalization, social reform, and economic development, acquiring its own dynamic and

achieving notable results in the context of Portugal's congenitally backward

colonialism884. The new governor reorganized Bissau's military commands, surrounding

himself with ardent and idealistic young officers who dedicated themselves to

investigating Guinea's living conditions and presenting innovative projects to improve

them885. Schools were built, and a literacy campaign was launched. Some peasant

farmers were given agricultural cooperatives and money886. Attempts were made to

integrate Africans into colonial administration887. The so-called "people's congresses"

pioneered a form of popular consultation. Money was spent on public works (mostly

using military labor) on an unprecedented scale, and in a constant whirlwind of official
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ceremonies and carnival parties, in which Spinola, projected himself as a savior of the

Guinean people, as a "anti-imperialist" and supporter of a true "social revolution" in that

small, impoverished, and insignificant land888. Meanwhile, the war continued, and the

accelerated recruitment of African soldiers brought the number of armed men in the

service of the colonial state to 36,000 - about one soldier for every fifteen population889

The ultimate goal of Spínola's "smiles and blood" policy, at least in Guinea14, was to

compel the PAIGC to negotiate. to reach an honorable political agreement in order to

avoid the humiliation of a total military defeat890. He cherished the "crazy dream" of

reaching an agreement with the PAIGC that would result in the incorporation of the

movement's political and military personnel into the existing colonial state apparatus —

obviously under its benign leadership, and with Cabral at its right as one of the two

general secretaries. Spínola, as noted by the PAIGC, was not a free agent891. His

appointment to Bissau coincided with Salazar's political death and the first months of

Caetano's political openness in Lisbon, but by 1972, Caetano's position within the

politically dominant class had weakened significantly, and Spínola's subtle plans for a

"evolution in diversity" of the overseas territories were deprived of the approval of the

hardline ultras, whose position gained strength892. Caetano, probably under pressure,

told Spínola to cut off all contact with the PAIGC and told him: For the global defense

of the overseas territories, it is preferable to leave Guinea for a military defeat with

honor rather than a negotiated agreement with the terrorists, which would pave the way

for future negotiations893. Any direct talks with the PAIGC would acknowledge the

movement's legitimacy, which the colonial dictatorship had always denied guerrilla

organizations, and would have far-reaching consequences in Angola and

Mozambique894.
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With the completion of the congress's work, the PAIGC leaders believed they had

resolved the issues that threatened the party's objectives895. Obviously, at some point,

the contradictions were suppressed tacitly, and the common goal - the abolition of

Portuguese colonialism - was achieved896.In 1970, during an extended meeting held

from April 12 to 15, the movement reinforced the Cassacá deliberations by establishing

additional bodies to support its political, military, and administrative actions897. The

Superior Council of Struggle (CSL), Executive Committee of Struggle (CEL), National

Committees of the Liberated Regions (CNRL), and Local Armed Forces are some of

these (FAL)898. The visit in April 1972 of the United Nations Special Mission to the

regions under the control of the PAIGC, known as liberated zones, was regarded as a

significant political-military advance899. This visit later resulted in the PAIGC's

legitimization during the UN General Assembly's XXVII session, which authorized its

specialized organizations to collaborate with the PAIGC for the improvement of the

material and cultural living conditions of the populations in the liberated zones where

the movement has an administrative life900. The second was the establishment of

Guinea's National People's Assembly (ANP) that was the first Constituent Assembly, in

which 120 people elected representatives participated901.

We can say that holding this first Constituent Assembly legitimized the PAIGC's

existence as a political party902. As a result, the revolutionary movement has ceased to

exist. In theory, one cannot speak of the existence of a party, whether capitalist or

socialist, without first considering its own representative decision-making arena903. That

is, the emergence of modern parties, according to specialized literature, is linked to the

existence of a parliament904. According to Amilcar Cabral, despite the existence of all
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institutional and bureaucratic apparatus since 1968, the PAIGC lacked the fundamental

thing, popular legitimacy of its power905.

5.5 Problems within the PAIGC

The two peoples' historical relationship was founded on the need to make unity the

strength to face a common enemy. However, conducting a successful mobilization in the

islands was difficult because the Cape Verdeans' differentiated status was an

impediment to the PAIGC's goals906. Cabral was aware of reality, and he sought viable

mechanisms in the alliance for the advancement of the liberation struggle. Why was

Guinea chosen? In contrast to Cape Verde, it offered the necessary conditions for a safer

revolutionary practice, not only because it could count on the connection of the land

borders of neighboring countries, but also because it took advantage of the feeling of

revolt against colonization that was more visible in the behavior of the natives of the

then Portuguese Guinea907. For the treatment that Cape Verde received was distinct, and

much of the society supported the colonial presence in the archipelago908. Aside from

the aspects mentioned, unity had social significance in the sense that it sought to create

an identity between different social classes, and Cape Verde, in turn, had a social

structure of citizens with a higher academic level, despite being a homogeneous

society909. As a result, it primarily contributed to the critical mass of the liberation

movement that was in charge of the organizational and diplomatic aspects. Guinea-

Bissau, on the other hand, concentrated more on the operational side, directing guerrilla

actions due to the condition of indigeneity imposed on it910. Despite the PAIGC being a

collaboration between Guinea Bissau and Cape Verde in the struggle for independence

for both, the former colonies had rivalries with each other. the rivalry was the fact that

Portugal, during the Portuguese occupation, provided more opportunities for education,

they had higher-level positions in society and generally benefited from better

opportunities and, due to this, they also had a better quality of life. In contrast, the
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Guineans did not have the same benefits as the Cape Verdeans, and this was the spark

that started the rivalry between the two. In addition to the fact that Guineans felt

wronged, and Cape Verdeans felt a certain superiority, this tension was aggravated by

the struggle for national liberation. In the armed struggle against the Portuguese, most

of the combatants and also those who died the most were the Guineans, this generated a

feeling of revolt in the Guineans because they were the ones who fought and died while

the Cape Verdeans simply benefited from the advances of the Guineans.

Amilcar Cabral, having Cape Verdean origins, also contributed to tensions between

Cape Verde and Guinea Bissau911. As previously mentioned, tensions were high among

Cape Verdeans and these tensions were heightened in the struggle for independence.

Amical Cabral ended up having a lot of Guineans killed for different ideologies

followed or for having abandoned the PAIGC. Later on, this tension inside the PAIGC

would culminate in his death

One of the most difficult challenges was balancing the interests of Guineans and Cape

Verdeans912. Difficulties in managing incentives made conflicts, sometimes violent, the

"natural way" to rise to power in the past. Both during their resistance to Portuguese

colonial occupation, which resulted in several assassinations, and after independence,

which was also marked by struggles and tensions between Guinean-Cape Verdean

cleavages at first, then between Guineans themselves913. Guineans initially felt wronged

and turned to the power of arms as a means of assuming leadership of the

organization914. This dispute weakened the party to the point where, of the two major

statutory objectives to be met (freeing the country from colonization and then putting it

on the path of development), the party only achieved the first, which was considered a

minor goal by its program915. The other, more important objective collided with

conflicts and the party's closed and authoritarian organizational structure916. However, it

911 Amílcar Cabral was born in Bafatá, on September 12, 1924, the son of Professor Juvenal Lopes Cabral
(Cape Verdean of Guinean descent) and Iva Pinhel Évora (Guinean of Cape Verdean descent). At the age
of eight, the family moved to Santa Catarina (Santiago Island/Cape Verde), where he attended primary
school.
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is worth noting that the minimum objective was achieved amidst intense internal

conflict and socio-cultural antagonism among the militants. It is said that the expulsion

of the Portuguese forces was successful because there was a reasonable awareness that

it was necessary to defeat a common enemy, the colonialists, and then resolve internal

issues of power struggle917. In short, while the end of colonialism was viewed as

necessary for the affirmation and self-determination of Guinean society, the truth is that,

in practice, it was not enough to build a Nation, as the PAIGC advocated in its

program918.

Among the liberation movements in the then-Portuguese colonies, the PAIGC had the

most internal conflicts919. Conflict violence became visible On January 20, 1973, in

Guinea-Conakry, its main leader and founder of Guinean and Cape Verdean

nationalities, Amlcar Cabral, was assassinated920. This occurred on the eve of the

PAIGC of the State of Guinea-unilateral Bissau's declaration of independence921.

Guinean Inocêncio Cani, commander of the Navy and leader of the Guineans opposed

to unity with the Cape Verdeans, fired the shots. Despite this, the party did not hold a

debate on the unit's situation922.

One of Amílcar Cabral's final acts was to announce that elections for a Popular National

Assembly would be held in the liberated zones, which occurred in the summer of

1973923. On September 24, during its inaugural session in Medina do Boé, the Assembly

solemnly declared the independence of the new Republic of Guinea-Bissau, which was

already recognized by around 70 sovereign states by the end of October924. The United

Nations, which had already recognized the PAIGC as the "only and authentic

representative of the people of Guinea"23, invited Portugal to end its "illegal

occupation" of the Republic and "immediately withdraw its troops" in November925.
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The PAIGC's unilateral declaration of independence was simply a political strategy to

demonstrate to the international community that it controlled a significant portion of the

territory and that Portugal would be forced to recognize Guinea and Cape Verde as

independent states926. Portugal did not yield to pressure, and its position only changed

with the coup d'état on April 25, 1974, which overthrew Salazar's regime and opened

the way for negotiations between the belligerent parties927. However, on September 10,

1974, the peace agreement was signed, and Portugal officially recognized Guinea-

independence Bissau's and, as a result, the PAIGC as solely responsible for the new

State's political, social, and economic life928. It is worth remembering that during the

liberation struggle, the African Party for the Independence of Guinea and Cape Verde

(PAIGC) was supported by socialist countries, countries, especially the USSR, Cuba,

and China929. Therefore, with the foundation of the Republic, the country adopted the

Marxist socialist development model as a strategy to follow the path of development,

like Mozambique and of development, like Mozambique and Angola, which also

received the support of socialist countries the socialist countries in their struggles for

independence930.

5.6 The Portuguese defeat

Portuguese colonialism in Guinea was defeated on all fronts: military, political, and

diplomatic. All additional initiatives now appeared to be impossible in the context of the

Lisbon regime931. The great irony of the situation was that, strictly economic or strategic

terms, Guinea had no significance for Portugal or its NATO partners932. Furthermore,

Guinea's military and war material could have been usefully reused in Mozambique,
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where the war was becoming increasingly visible933. But a military withdrawal—a

defeat inflicted by someone who had always been described in official reports as one of

a handful of terrorists operating across the border—was unthinkable934.

The morale of armed forces stationed in other colonies would have suffered as a result

of a defeat in Guinea, which would have triggered a "domino" effect throughout the

Empire935. More than that, any form of political concession or "military personnel

economy" was anathema to the regime's ultras, for whom Portugal would always be "an

indivisible nation, from Minho to Timor"936. Under any circumstances, no amputation or

split would be permitted. «The Fatherland is not discussed, it is defended!» said

Salazar937. Thus, for the second time28, the oppressors deceived themselves with their

own propaganda, believing in their cultural (and racial) superiority and unable to accept

the possibility of defeat coming from a handful of “ black communists938”

The PAIGC militants' euphoria reflected the essence of historical reality: Guinea was

the weakest link in Portugal's colonial chain, and the Lisbon regime could not survive

defeat in Africa939. The colonial dictatorship was unable to provide any sort of solution

to the Guinea problem940. It had proven itself incapable of tolerating any kind of

political concessions, caught in a web of contradictions created by its own myths and

ideology941. The armed forces on the ground were disheartened by the Government's

sabotage of their efforts to end the war through negotiations with the PAIGC, aware that

the military situation was rapidly deteriorating, and haunted by the memory of Goa

were faced with only one alternative: either they became the scapegoat for the military

which they had tried to avoid at all costs, to overthrow the government942. The roots of

the military insurgency that culminated on April 25th had been thrown into Guinea's
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inhospitable swamps and savannas943. The idea then spread, among the military

stationed in Guinea, that their true enemies were not the guerrillas of the bush, but

rather the politicians and high-ranking military installed in the metropolis944.” The

history of the armed forces revolt, the formation of the Movement of Captains, and the

events leading up to the coup have been reported numerous times, so there is no reason

to repeat it here945. It is important to note that the revolt was conceived, inspired, and

organized in Guinea. Despite being able to detect, after thirteen years of war, in all

theaters of operations, signs of demoralization and fatigue in the armed forces, it was in

Guinea that this feeling was found more generalized and expressed itself openly —

especially after the break of contacts with the PAIGC, in 1972946.

Despite the size of Guinea, the population being much smaller than in comparison with

other colonies, Guinea was the one that gave the Portuguese forces the most difficulty in

their armed struggle. The fact that this colony was “put aside” by the Portuguese,

because Portugal did not enjoy natural resources and as it was a colony not as relevant

as Angola and Mozambique, the Portuguese did not see it as a threat. When the PAIGC

began its armed struggle, this situation was taken very lightly by the Portuguese who

believed that even if there were armed struggles, this would not pose a serious problem.

Why was Guinea's national liberation movement more successful? When we compare

Angola and Mozambique, the tensions within these countries were much more critical

than in Guinea. Both Angola and Mozambique had great divergences between the

parties that were fighting for liberation, in addition to this, not only ideological

differences but also a pronounced ethnic rivalry947. This made the fight in these former

colonies more difficult since they had to fight against the Portuguese but also with the

population of the country itself. In the case of Guinea, although there were ideological

differences and social tensions, they were not as pronounced as Angola and

Mozambique948. Because of this, Guinea had an advantage in all its armed struggle
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efforts against the Portuguese. Another important factor is the geographical factor that

Guinea had: quote now “Historical and geographical factors were certainly more

favorable to the development of the liberation struggle in Guinea than they were in

Angola or Mozambique: most of the interior of the country was inaccessible to the

Portuguese, providing excellent terrain for guerrilla warfare, and the independence of

Guinea-Conakry (1958) and Senegal (1960) provided the PAIGC with a safe haven in

the north, east and south, as well as valuable bases both for military training such as

supplies of war material4, propaganda broadcasts, etc.”949

Due to these two factors, this played in favor of guinea having an advantage over the

Portuguese, who, due to these two factors, never managed to implement their colonial

rule as profoundly as they did in Angola and Mozambique.

The PAIGC left the negotiations and arrived in Bissau in October 1974, where it faced

for the first time the challenge of dealing with the bureaucratic machine's complexity,

particularly the contradictions that it necessitates - above all, the distribution of public

positions and the guarantee of citizens' well-being950. And the situation was complicated

because, in addition to being the party's first real contact with governing demands, it

also lacked militants with the necessary qualities to keep the public machine running951.

In this regard, it is worth noting how this political-administrative transfer of power

occurred952. This is because independence was established without the parties taking

into account the unique situation of the colonies, particularly in Guinea, where there

was a deficient technical-administrative structure capable of ensuring and sustaining

governance challenges953. Obviously, resentments from the ten years of military and

diplomatic conflict lingered on both sides954. Specifically, the PAIGC, which for a long

time saw a large majority of society defend being marginalized from social, political,

and economic rights, preferred total independence955. The total abandonment of the

Portuguese armed forces, which were a more effective instrument of the organizational
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structure that Portugal maintained in Guinea at the time, eliminated the most important

organizational mechanism for the post-colonial state's implementation956. This attitude

developed quickly, as the party was confronted, primarily in administrative terms, with

a significant shortage of professionals capable of providing some bureaucratic

dynamism to the public service957.

What happened was only the substitution of a foreign repressive force for an equally

repressive national one. And the contradictions verified, especially in the

implementation of public policies, were due to this limited absence of freedom958.

5.7 1998/1999 Civil War

After independence was declared in 1974, the military elite of Guinea started to get

involved in politics959. Their involvement in the emancipation process led to a growing

sense of legitimacy for their strength and power960. This resulted in the formation of

internal factions and the fallout from military coups involving senior military leaders

and officers, such as Chiefs of Staff and General of the Armed Forces (CEMGFA)961.

The first constitutional changes made following the 1980 coup further consolidated the

authority of the military elite962. The proposed changes enabled the participation and

formation of a military elite concerned with the specific issues of civil affairs, with

clearly authoritarian characteristics, and not only made it possible for military superiors

to receive certain perks but also strengthened their interference in State affairs963.

Guinea-Bissau experienced its biggest political-military conflict, "the civil war of

1998/99", known as the "June 7 war", which lasted eleven months, creating a financial

crisis, lack of material resources and destruction of infrastructure, institutional

insecurity in the month of June 1998, the country again plunged into a political crisis,
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now in the military environment, which culminated in the political-military conflict in

the same year964. All this is due to the political instability and the fragility of the state

institutions, which is the biggest problem in Guinea-Bissau since its independence965.

The main catalyst problem for the outbreak of the political-military conflict that

completely destroyed the country's productive apparatus, from which until today the

country has not been able to overcome the political, economic and social consequences

generated by the conflict of June 7, 1998, was the so-called case of arms trafficking to

the rebels in the Casamance region, which the Senegalese state has been fighting for a

long time966.

Here it is important to note that a year before the civil war, Guinea-Bissau joined the

UEMOA, with adherence to the Franco of the Comunidade Financeira da África (CFA)

of the members of the monetary alliance of West African countries967. In light of this

alliance, the relationship between the two countries became increasingly strained, as a

result the Senegalese and French authorities' constant allegations that the state of

Guinea-Bissau was supplying the state of Guinea-Bissau supplied weapons to rebels in

the Casamance region, resulting in frequent frequent clashes between Casamance rebels

and Senegalese forces968.

The Casamance issue exacerbated the PAIGC crisis over the involvement of some

military officers and politicians in arms trafficking to the Casamance Movement of

Democratic Forces (MFDC)969. Strong indications point to the President of the Republic

himself, Joo Bernardo Nino Vieira of the PAIGC, being involved in illegal arms

trafficking. Due to these strong indications pointing to his involvement, the president

decided to dismiss his partner in the independence struggles, the then Chief of Staff of

the Armed Forces, General Ansumane Mané, with whom he had a good friendship

relationship, alleging that Mané was responsible for the arms trafficking in Casamansa,
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in order to divert attention and ease public concern and pressure from France and

Senegal970.

General Ansumane Mané vigorously denied any involvement in thetrafficking and

found the arbitrary manner of his resignation unacceptable971. Refusing to make his the

position, he set up a military junta to confront the president, who called for troops from

Senegal and Guinea-Conakry14 , as an absolute majority of Guinean military personnel

sided with the the absolute majority of the Guinean military sided with Chief of Staff

General Ansumane Mané972. Quickly, Mané, with the support of some military

personnel, took over the barracks in Santa Luzia barracks, and soon after took over the

food storage barracks. With this the government reacted and, thus, began the "civil war"

that would last 11 months in the country. It started on June 7, 1998 and ended in May

1999 with the victory of the Military Junta (Mané) over the government973. Defeated,

Nino Vieira went into exile in Portugal974.

5.8 Post civil war

Following the civil war, legislative and presidential elections were held in 1999 and

2000, without the participation of General Mané975. However, it became clear that Mané

would refuse to give up his newly acquired influence in the selection of leading figures

capable of protecting the military from any more autocratic civilian leaders. Civilian

autocracies are ruled by autocratic civilians976. A "Co-President" sign was posted on

Mané's office door shortly after the 2000 presidential election, and he proceeded to

ignore or reject measures taken by the new civilian government to promote or displace

troops and officers977. Meanwhile, Mané began to lose support within the armed forces

as his involvement in the political struggle increased978.

970 Ibid
971 Ibid
972 Ibid
973 ibid
974 Ibid
975 O’Regan, D., & Thompson, P. (2013). Promover a Estabilidade e a Reconciliação na Guiné-Bissau:
Lições do Primeiro Narco-Estado de África. p.8
976 Ibid
977 Ibid
978 Ibid
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The struggle for the presidency has shaped much of Guinea-history Bissau's and is a

structural feature of the country's political system, in which this sovereign body wields

disproportionate power979. People close to the president have access to financial and

career advancement opportunities that the general population does not have980. Those

who are not inside the circle are intimidated and subjected to arbitrary enforcement981.

These practices were partly passed down from President "Nino" Vieira, the authoritarian

leader of Guinea-Bissau, who held the presidency from a coup d'état in 1980 until the

end of the civil war in 1999, and again after returning from exile in 2005 until his

assassination in 2009982. The position's authority and his leadership style enabled him to

concentrate even more powers in the presidency, which he used to favor allies, reward

supporters, and marginalize or punish enemies, whether real, potential, or merely

imagined983. The legal changes were conceived as part of a strategy to extend and

concentrate the government's power and influence984.

More people are aware of the significance of Guinea-Bissau as a transit country for

drugs headed to European markets in recent years, as well as the alleged involvement of

military personnel985. The amount of drug trafficking has increased in a setting where

institutions are weak and poverty is widespread986. Threatens to undermine Guinea-

Bissau's democratization process, act as a base for organized crime, and undermine

respect for the law987.

5.9 Cape Verde and São Tomé e Príncipe

As for Cape Verde and São Tomé e Principe the relations with Portugal differed.988. São

Tomé e Príncipe, on the other hand since it had less internal stability than Cabo Verde

979 O’Regan, D., & Thompson, P. (2013). Promover a Estabilidade e a Reconciliação na Guiné-Bissau:
Lições do Primeiro Narco-Estado de África.p.9-10
980 Ibid
981 Ibid
982 Ibid
983 Ibid
984 Ibid
985 O OBSERVATÓRIO para a proteção dos defensores dos direitos humanos. (2008). GUINÉ-BISSAU
Um Ambiente Prejudicial para o Trabalho dos Defensores dos Direitos Humanos. P.4
986 Ibid
987 Ibid
988 MacQueen, N. (1997). The Decolonization of Portuguese Africa. p.231-232
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had a more difficult relationship with the metropole989. The regime of São Tomé and

Príncipe had a complicated relation with the metropole about the of opposition

activity990. Long prison sentences were given out to those involved in "conspiracies"

sparked protests in Lisbon, after an apparent coup made by a couple of Portuguese991.

Portugal, then responded to MLSTP regime attacks992. Portuguese aid was suspended in

1983 after the minister of education in São Tomé and Principe criticized its quality and

quantity and threatened retaliation if dissident activity in Lisbon was tolerated993.

However, the relations did improve in the mid-1980s with Pinto da Costa. Pinto da

Costa set out a number of functional arrangements similar to those already in place with

Cabo Verde, including the a monthly scheduled flight to Lisbon by the Portuguese

airline, which gave São Tomé e Príncipe's the only direct connection with Europe994.

In Cabo Verde they experienced water, food and overall economic difficulties they were

able to half successful relationships with external actors, becoming even one of the most

aided countries in Africa995. Cabo Verde also adopted a more neutral position amid the

Cold War and was considered to be in a “harmless position” since its territory was not

being disputed and influenced by the US or the USSR996.

Guinea distinguishes itself from Mozambique and Angola for not having submerged

into a civil war shortly after the fall of the Portuguese dictatorship. Guinea did not

follow the same path because in Angola and Mozambique there were multiple parties

involved in the liberation war that had different ideologies and aspirations to rule the

country after their independence. One common ground between these three was that

they all had ethnic rivalries, but still in the case of guinea this was not enough to enter

into war after their independence. The particular thing about guinea however was that

from all the liberation movements in the African colonies the PAIGC was the most

fragmented party. After the leaving of the Portuguese in guinea, the country was in very

poor condition and precarious situation, as previously stated, it was the Portuguese

989 Ibid
990 Ibid
991 Ibid
992 Ibid
993 Ibid
994 Ibid
995 MacQueen, N. (1997). The Decolonization of Portuguese Africa. p.232
996 Ibid
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African colonies where the Portuguese least invested in infrastructure, healthcare and

education. The transition of the power to PAIGC revealed to be quite deficient in the

governance of the country. Firstly, they did not had proper bases to manage and govern

the country, since it lacked many things to be able to have a good administration.

Secondly, there were big divergences in PAIGC amongst Cape Verdeans and Guineans

as well as between ethnicities, where some had more benefits that others which

consequently caused disagreement. Finally, sharing this with also Angola and

Mozambique, there’s a huge fight for power. The ones who stay in power is a situation

of “the winner takes it all” so there’s a significant dispute to reach the power because

they benefit from a range of things that the civilian population doesn’t. To make clear,

not from a western democracy stance but from a typical authoritarian regime point of

view. Where in this repressive regime, the corruption runs in the governance, the police

are most time also corrupt and bribed, crimes are done with no impunity, overall, the

state of law is undeniably weak.
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Conclusion

Looking at the cases of the former Portuguese colonies we can highlight certain things

that lead to the problems that happened with the decolonization. After the 25th of April

the MFA wanted to proceed with a rapid decolonization, since they wanted to leave and

dissociate Portugal from the colonies after so many years fighting in the colonial wars.

However, the MFA didn’t had enough political knowledge on how to proceed and act

for this matter. The main focus was just decolonization without any structural reliable

plan. Added to this, after the 25th of April experienced a severe political instability.

Firstly, with the diverse ideas of decolonization within the MFA, that Spínola wanted a

federalist solution while the other members just wanted a decolonization without

Portugal having any responsibility in this matter. When the Portuguese proceeded to the

decolonization it was done in a careless and organized way. A considerable part of the

Portuguese population abandoned the former colonies amid the decolonization and

closed and destroyed the businesses they owned. It was also the white Portuguese

population living in the colonies that made, owned and ran important infrastructures.

Consequently, when they left, these former colonies lost all the important infrastructures

and businesses that were crucial for the countries to “function”. Another crucial factor

was that they were no elections were done, there was simply a direct transfer of power

the most dominant national liberation movement of each country. This lead for other

opposition movements with different ideologies to contest this transfer of power that

eventually led to civil wars. Within these liberation movements it is also important to

mention the Berlin conference. When the territories in Africa were divided for the

suitable preferences for the European colonial powers, this caused a change in the

African territories where rival tribes, ethnicities and people with different religious

beliefs now had to share the same territory. This was noticeable in the liberation

movements of the former Portuguese African colonies that also contributed to rivalries

after the decolonization. Taking all this in matter it was almost inevitable for these civil

wars to not take place. The decolonization did not have a negative impact for Portugal

but, for the former colonies that were already in precarious conditions amid the

decolonization, the civil war had devastating effects for these countries that until now

these effects are still very present.
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Finally, we can state that there is a correlation between the fall of the dictatorship in

Portugal and the consequent decolonization, that after lead some of the Portuguese

colonies to enter in a civil war.
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